
{pure play}
 A single business focus and devoted to one line of business.

ie: Phoenix Technology Income Fund is a pure play in the Oil & Gas service industry.

2 0 0 8  A n n u A l  r e p o r t
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Corporate

Phoenix Technology Income Fund is a progressive 
horizontal and directional drilling service company that 
operates throughout North America, and was established 
in 1985. Committed to its core focus of more efficient 
and cost-effective drilling operations, Phoenix designs 
and manufactures downhole technologies that create 
its competitive advantage. In 2008 Phoenix expanded 
its measurement while drilling (“MWD”)fleet, which is 
comprised of its proprietary electromagnetic tool and 
mud pulse tools, to 108 systems, and equipped its high 
performance drilling motor fleet with industry-leading 
technology. With the support of its in-house research 
and development (“R&D”) department, Phoenix has 
geographically diversified its operations throughout 
Canada and the US with facilities in Alberta, Saskatchewan, 
Texas, Michigan, Wyoming and Colorado.

Phoenix began trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange 
(“TSX”) on March 24, 2003 and was reorganized into 
an income fund on July 1, 2004. Phoenix’s trust units 
trade under the symbol PHX.UN. At December 31, 2008, 
24,337,524 units were issued and outstanding, and the 2008 
year saw cash distributions at $0.92 per unit.

p r o f I l e

the Annual General Meeting of 

phoenix technology Income fund 

will be held on May 11, 2009 at 

9AM (Mst) at the Bankers Hall 

Auditorium, lower level, 315- 8th 

Avenue sW, calgary, Alberta.

AOI

{area of interest}
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President’s
M e s s A G e

Remaining a pure play company, with deliberate strategies 
feeding one focus, has proven to be a successful design for 
Phoenix. It has allowed us to grow our geographic borders, 
drive our technology to new levels and enhance our team 
with the best in the industry. Moreover, we did all this 
while remaining financially strong and building our long-
term sustainability.  

Our focus in 2008 drove Phoenix toward achieving new 
milestones. With robust industry activity, we were able to 
truly demonstrate the benefits of knowing our business and 
progressively bringing our expertise to the market. Our 
ongoing commitment to being a leading-edge service provider 
and to designing and manufacturing innovative proprietary 
tools has proven to be a powerful force throughout our history.
We are proud of the marks we have left at the end of 2008.  

Balance sheet strength has always differentiated Phoenix; this 
is not only a strategy that was employed in a dynamic 2008- 
year, but has been a core objective of our pure play. We pride 
ourselves in using marketing and operations expertise to attract 
and retain clients and know that respected relationships result 
in long-term profitability. It is these relationships, maintained 
by our dedicated personnel, that have lead to year-over-year 
increases in revenue since 2002 and propelled 2008 revenue 
to a new high of $164.3 million. 

The benefit of our record performance is aided by Phoenix’s 
lean internal operations and in-house technical capabilities 
that are geared toward reducing costs. Additionally, when 
client demands nearly exceeded our fleet in the early part of 
2008, the largest capital expenditures budget ever undertaken 
by Phoenix expanded our operating capacity to 108 jobs 
without utilizing debt and ensured our organic operating 
philosophy remained true.  

As the horizontal and directional drilling industry has 
been steered in new directions, we have stayed on track 
by ambitiously building four core regions across North 
America and continuing to embark on new R&D initiatives. 
We realized from the very beginning that our market is 
always changing, and that there will be highs as well as lows.  
It is with this consciousness that we invest in new R&D 

programs as well as projects that expand the capabilities of 
our current technologies. We are proud that at the end of 
2008 our fleet was at its most advanced state, which fueled 
our outperformance in all operating regions.

The motivation for our unwavering drive is not only 
operational benefits, but also to create unitholder value.  
Since becoming a public company in 2002, our commitment 
to rewarding those who believe and participate in what we do 
has been a leading priority. Our conversion to an income fund 
allows us to share successes with our unitholders through 
the distributions we pay and our 2008 accomplishments 
were reflected in an increase of 31 percent, to bring annual 
distributions per unit to $1.02. This, like the other records 
we have achieved, is not a onetime event for Phoenix. We 
are proud that since 2004 we have increased this payment 
to our unitholders four times to 112 percent of its original 
value, while at the same time we still achieve one of the lowest 
payout ratios of any publicly listed Fund. 

As 2008 came to a close and the world economy drastically 
changed, we realized our accomplishments would be 
the foundation that supports us through the continuing 
volatility. With the onset of the current world financial crisis 
and low commodity prices, the pace of the oil and natural 
gas industry’s activity has dramatically slowed. Phoenix has 
already shifted our operating paradigm to reduce spending 
and increase efficiency without jeopardizing our superior 
service level. We are actively evaluating our position and the 
market to ensure we take the actions required to emerge an 
even stronger pure play company.

On behalf of the board of Directors,

John Hooks, President & CEO 
February 24, 2009

Phoenix has deliberately diversified its operations to expand its client-base and in 2008 
drilling activity increased in key plays such as the Bakken, Montney, Barnett Shale, 
Marcellus, Appalachia, Piceance and Johan.
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Horizontal and directional drilling is Phoenix’s foundation. 
The operational and financial records set in 2008 are 
evidence of Phoenix’s conscious commitment to its core 
services, and further differentiated Phoenix from its 
competitors. Revenue was a record $164.3 million and 
with robust industry activity Phoenix’s operating levels 
increased by 46%. In the year, R&D projects drove MWD 
tool performance to new drilling areas, expanded Phoenix’s 
technology to include EnSight Measurement-at-Bit and 
brought numerous prototypes to field testing. As the 
demand for Phoenix’s services increased, a record capital 
expenditures budget of $33.9 million was undertaken and 
was completely financed through cash flows and an equity 
financing. The result was a 20% increase in operating 
capacity, reaching the highest level in Phoenix’s history.

2008 Drive
A n D  A M B I t I o n

focused on lucrative operations and 

diversification, phoenix benefited 

from new fracturing techniques 

utilized by operators that increased 

demand for its services.

AOI

{area of interest}
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In May of 2008 Phoenix increased its annual distributions 
to $1.02 per unit,  the fourth increase since converting to 
an income trust in July 2004. Phoenix believes in the trust 
structure and the rewards it provides to unitholders, paying 
out $21.8 million in distributions in 2008. Ultimately, the 
Fund’s desire is to maintain and build its commitment to 
unitholders by staying focused and on strategy, while issuing 
cash distributions to unitholders for their loyalty. It is this 
goal that lead Phoenix in 2008 to further strengthening  
its financial platform by reducing its net debt to zero and 
by increasing its capital investments to a record level. These 
initiatives will help support Phoenix’s commitment to  
its unitholders in the volatile times ahead as will 
Phoenix’s singular vision, unwavering drive and strong sense 
of purpose.

Commitment
t o  u n I t H o l D e r s
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r&D
With multiple projects underway,
Phoenix will increase its

resources in 2009 to expedite the release of these innovations and

further the technology Phoenix brings to the market.

r&D
With a targeted focal point, Phoenix intuitively knows 
what it takes to surpass expectations in its industry. The in-
house research and development department is the essence 
of Phoenix’s ambition and focus. The mandate to develop 
technology that is sustainable, dependable and that answers 
a challenge, propelled Phoenix to be one of the largest service 
providers in North America.

After launching the Current Loop Telemetry electromagnetic 
(“CLT EM”) MWD tool in 2003, Phoenix did not solely 
invest in new technology, but realized the importance of 
continually stretching the capabilities of its existing tools. 
The CLT EM-MWD system is now in its fi fth version, 
Phoenix’s positive pulse system has undergone numerous 
customizations and Phoenix offers ancillary tools such 
as focused gamma. The combination of Phoenix’s new 
technologies with its continual optimization has resulted in 
one of the leanest, most effi cient fl eets in the market.

As long as opportunities to drill more accurate, effi cient and 
cost-effective wells exist, Phoenix’s dedication to innovation 
will remain a driving force in its growth.

proVen cApABIlItIes
ENSIGHT MEASUREMENT-AT-BIT
Announced commercial in 2008, Phoenix is currently 
manufacturing this tool, and plans to have a versatile fl eet 
established during the 2009 year. Traditionally, MWD 
sensors have been situated 10-20 metres behind the drillbit, 
delaying the delivery of at-bit borehole information to the 
operator. Located in a short sub directly behind the drillbit, 
the Ensight tool contains inclination and gamma sensors 
that immediately transmit accurate data to the MWD tool, 
where it is processed and sent to the surface. Although this 
technology was developed with SAGD drilling in mind, the 
company has now focused its attention on the increasing 
conventional horizontal well drilling market.

REMOTE ACCESS DIRECTIONAL DRILLING (“RADD”)
With the development of Remote Access Directional Drilling 
technology, Phoenix has been able to increase effi ciency 
and lower client costs. RADD utilizes dedicated wireless 
telecommunications technology in the fi eld to transmit the 
details of multiple jobs to staff located at a central command
centre. Job monitoring, decoding and directional drilling 
inputs can now all take place at one central location.
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Having fewer staff deployed in the field decreases costs 
and safety risks, while increasing the potential for quality 
control on any given application.

 
EXTENDED REACH
Phoenix’s proprietary Extended Reach technology enables the 
CLT EM-MWD to more efficiently communicate downhole 
data to the surface in applications where rock formations 
reduce the transmission of the electromagnetic signal. 
When a troublesome rock formation is located between the 
MWD tool and the well surface data transmission is often 
obstructed. Phoenix is able to insert a length of conductive 
wire into the drillstring, creating a transmission from above 
the problematic rock. Operators have the ability to utilize 
all the benefits of the CLT EM-MWD tool in environments 
where this would have previously been impossible.

ENDURANCE SURVEY-ON-CONNECTION
Phoenix’s proprietary Endurance Survey-on-Connection 
tool was developed to meet the demand for cost savings 
on bottom hole survey methods for vertical drilling 
applications. Equipped with both a mud pulse transmitter 
and a simplified electronic sensor, the Endurance tool 
results in a reliable survey tool with more uptime, thereby 
reducing overall costs for customers.

future ADVAnceMents
EM SIGNAL ENHANCEMENT
Once commercial the cost and efficiency benefits of running 
the CLT EM-MWD tool will apply to more wells, including 
those in areas such as the Bakken in SE Saskatchewan 
where EM signals traditionally are undetectable.

COILED TUBING BOTTOM HOLE
ASSEMBLY (“BHA”) ORIENTER

The industry trend toward shallow wells using coiled 
tubing has resulted in a number of challenges. Coiled 
tubing drill strings are unable to rotate in the directions 
needed to correctly orient the performance drilling motor 
responsible for guiding a directional well. Phoenix will 
answer this challenge with the Coiled Tubing Orienter. The 
tool works in tandem with the MWD tool. When the MWD 
tool determines that a well needs to be steered, the orienter 
indexes the Bottom Hole Assembly to the new orientation 
and drilling continues.

Phoenix’s devotion to the horizontal and directional industry is demonstrated by its R&D 
successes, which have included the commercialization of the CLT EM-MWD System, Engage  
SmartChip Batteries, Focused Gamma Module and Envision Gamma Logging Software.



pHX.un

– 09 –

DIrectIonAl AnD HorIZontAl DrIllInG 
Directional and horizontal wells, accounted for nearly 
45 percent of the oil and natural gas wells drilled in 
North America. New drilling techniques and growth in 
unconventional wells has increased the need for these 
services. Precision is key to a successful horizontal or 
directional well and therefore advanced equipment and 
highly skilled operators are vital. Phoenix’s thrust has been 
to meet challenges created by this growing market with 
leading-edge technology and unmatched expertise.

Directional drilling is employed to drill to a target reservoir 
not accessible through a vertical well; typically those 
existing beneath a physical barrier, such as a body of water 
or an urban development. In such instances, the well bore 
must be steered toward the target, beneath the surface and 
offset from vertical.

Horizontal drilling is employed to maximize productivity 
of a reservoir and can enable one horizontal well to yield as 
much as several individual vertical wells. A horizontal well 
begins with a vertical drill, followed by a section inclined at 
80-90 degrees. Horizontal wells drill through, rather than 
into a reservoir, exposing the well bore to a greater span 
of oil or natural gas-bearing rock. Horizontal drilling can 
also be employed to increase productivity on a tighter or 
less permeable reservoir that might flow at a lower rate if 
drilled vertically.

In order for a horizontal or directional  well to be steered 
accurately towards a target, specialized tools are required 

to measure, direct and alter the orientation of the drillbit. 
Essential to this process are the bent steerable downhole 
motor and the measurement while drilling (“MWD”) system.
During the drilling process, the MWD system provides vital 
information to the operator regarding inclination, direction 
and toolface orientation, as well as reservoir information 
communicated through natural gamma ray radiation 
sensors. Operators use this information to guide the drillbit 
toward the target, reorienting the bent steerable downhole 
motor as required.

Understanding our business IS

{pure play}

since 2004, an increasing 

percentage of wells drilled in 

north America are horizontal and 

directional wells. In 2008 these wells 

represented 44% of the wells drilled 

in canada and 49% of the us drilling 

activity. (source: Daily oil Bulletin 

and Baker Hughes)

AOI

{area of interest}
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MuD pulse teleMetrY
Developed in the 1980’s as one of the first techniques for 
wirelessly transmitting data from a downhole location 
to the surface, mud pulse telemetry employs positive and 
negative pressure pulses to encode information. A choke 
(positive pulse) or a vent to the annulus (negative pulse) 
is used to create fluctuations in the overall pressure of the 
fluid being pumped down the drill string. These pressure 
pulses are encoded in patterns, sent to the surface and 
decoded as real-time downhole data, communicating the 
location of the well to the operator. A mud pulse signal is 
very reliable. It remains strong regardless of depth from 
the surface and is not susceptible to elements exterior to 
the drilling mud system. Disadvantages of mud pulse tools 
include the need for mud pumps to be running in order 
to transmit data which can delay surveys, and the signal’s 
inability to transmit if the percentage of gas in the drilling 
medium is too high. In these cases, increased time required 
for a survey can lead to increased costs.

electroMAGnetIc teleMetrY
Prevalent in the 1990’s, electromagnetic telemetry is 
credited with a higher data rate and an ability to transmit 
during connections, which means surveys are received 
in real-time. This, paired with its lack of moving parts, 
make an electromagnetic measurement while drilling tool 
very reliable and cost-effective, its demand, therefore, has 
increased beyond underbalanced applications and it is now 
often the system of choice. In these tools, data is encoded 
as an electrical signal and sent to the surface. The signal is 
detected by several electrodes, or antennae, where it is then 
demodulated and displayed for the operator’s use. Though 
this technique is generally very dependable, some rock 
formations are impervious to the electromagnetic signal, 
putting an electromagnetic tool at a disadvantage under 
certain circumstances. 

PHOENIX’S ANSWER TO EM:
CLT EM-MWD SYSTEM
Phoenix’s proprietary CLT EM-MWD tool was developed 
to eliminate many problems facing EM tools. The signal-
generating portion of the CLT EM-MWD tool is equipped 
with a longer transmission range and a lower rate of battery 
consumption, enabling data to be transmitted through 
precarious regions without wasting power. Additionally, 
the CLT EM-MWD tool is equipped with patented 
mounting techniques and rugged electronics designed 
specifically to withstand the harsh environment and high 
drilling velocities.

Phoenix’s line of business has remained unchanged since its formation in 1985, and it is this 
singular focus that lead Phoenix in 2003 to develop what is now one of the most reliable 
EM-MWD system in the industry.
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Management’s Discussion

Cautionary Statement
Regarding Forward-Looking

&  A n A l Y s I s

I n f o r M A t I o n  &  s t A t e M e n t s

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(“MD&A”) of the financial condition, results of operations, 
and cash flow of the Phoenix Technology Income Fund 
(“Phoenix” or the “Fund”) should be read in conjunction 
with the Fund’s annual audited consolidated financial 
statements for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 
2007, and the accompanying notes contained therein, 

as well as other sections contained within the Fund’s 
2008 annual report. Readers can also obtain additional 
information on the Fund including its Information Circular 
and Annual Information Form (“AIF”) filed on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. This MD&A has been prepared taking into 
consideration information available up to and including, 
and is dated, February 24, 2009.

Certain statements and information contained in this 
MD&A and other continuous disclosure documents of the 
Fund referenced herein, including statements related to the 
Fund’s capital expenditures, projected growth, view and 
outlook toward future oil and natural gas commodity prices 
and activity levels, cash distributions, customer pricing, 
future market opportunities and statements and information 
that contain the words such as “could”, “should”, “can”, 
“anticipate”, “expect”, “believe”, “will”, “may” and 
similar expressions relating to matters that are not historical 
facts constitute “forward-looking information” within the 
meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation. These 
statements and information involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 
results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in 
such forward-looking statements and information. The Fund 
believes the expectations reflected in such forward-looking 

statements and information are reasonable, but no assurance 
can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. 
Such forward-looking statements and information included 
in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon. These 
forward-looking statements and information speak only as 
of the date of this MD&A.

In particular, forward-looking information and statements 
include:

	 •		estimates	that	$10.2	million	of	total	capital	expenditures	will	
be incurred in 2009, this includes $5.1 million in expenditures 
carried over from 2008;

	 •		there	are	no	planned	additions	in	job	capacity	in	the	2009-	
year other than the six MWD systems that were carried 
forward  from 2008;
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	 •		planned	asset	growth	and	cash	distributions	will	be	financed	
by existing debt facilities, cash flow and working capital;

	 •		it	 is	 expected	 that	 there	 will	 be	 sufficient	 cash	 flow	 from	
operations to maintain current distributions; however, if 
current economic uncertainty and volatile financial markets 
persist for a sustained period of time the distribution levels 
may be reviewed and reduced;

	 •		lower	 oil	 and	 natural	 gas	 commodity	 prices	 in	 2009	 are	
expected to adversely impact customer cash flows and their 
drilling activity, and as a result their demand for Phoenix’s 
drilling services will decline; 

	 •		lower	commodity	prices	will	also	put	pressures	on	customer	
pricing levels; and

	 •		the	 US	market	 continues	 to	 present	 the	 Fund	with	 future 

growth opportunities. 

The above are stated under the headings, “Overall 
Performance”, “Results of Operations”, “Cash Flow, 
Distributions and Payout Ratio”, “Cash Requirements for 
Capital Expenditures”, “Business Risks” and “Outlook”.

In addition to other factors and assumptions which may be 
identified in this MD&A and other continuous disclosure 
documents of the Fund referenced herein, assumptions have 
been made in respect of such forward-looking statements 
and information regarding, among other things: anticipated 
financial performance, business prospects, impact of 
competition, strategies, the general stability of the economic 
and political environment in which the Fund operates,  
exchange and interest rates, tax laws, the sufficiency of 
budgeted capital expenditures in carrying out planned 
activities, the availability and cost of labour and services 
and the ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms, 
which are subject to change based on commodity prices, 
market conditions, future oil and natural gas prices, and 
potential timing delays. Although management considers 
these assumptions to be reasonable based on information 
currently available to it, they may prove to be incorrect. 

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors 
are not exhaustive. Additional information on these and 
other factors that could affect the Fund’s operations and 
financial results are included in reports on file with the 
Canadian Securities Regulatory Authorities and may be 
accessed through the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com) or 
at the Fund’s website. The forward-looking statements and 
information contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified 
by this cautionary statement. The Fund does not undertake 
any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-
looking statements or information, whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise, except as may 
be required by applicable securities laws.
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o V e r V I e W

Phoenix Technology Income Fund is an unincorporated 
open-ended investment trust governed by the laws of the 
province of Alberta pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of 
May 19, 2004, as amended. The Fund, through its subsidiary 
entities, provides horizontal and directional technology and 
drilling services to oil and natural gas producing companies 
predominantly in Canada and the United States. In addition, 
the Fund rents various downhole drilling equipment to 
oil and natural gas producer companies within Canada. 
Phoenix manufactures its Current Loop Telemetry (“CLT”) 
electromagnetic (“EM”) technology that is made available 
for internal operational use or for lease to other horizontal 
and directional service providers within the industry. 

In 2008, the Fund’s Canadian operations were conducted 
through Phoenix Technology Services LP. Phoenix maintains 
its corporate head office, research and development, 
Canadian sales, service and operational centres in Calgary, 
Alberta. The Fund’s US operations, conducted through the 
Fund’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Nevis Energy Services Inc. 
(“Nevis”), is headquartered in Houston, Texas. Nevis has 
sales and service facilities in Houston, Texas; Traverse City, 
Michigan; and Casper, Wyoming. In addition, sales offices 
are located in Denver, Colorado; and Fort Worth, Texas.

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit amounts, percentages and units outstanding)

 Three-months ended December 31,  Years ended December 31,
 2008 2007 %Change 2008 2007 % Change

Operating Results (unaudited) (unaudited)

Revenue 48,065 31,018 55 164,345 115,548 42
Net earnings 6,414 5,281 21 25,531 18,214 40
Earnings per unit – diluted 0.26 0.23 13 1.07 0.81 32
EBITDA (1) 9,039 7,279 24 37,640 26,533 42
EBITDA per unit – diluted (1) 0.37 0.32 16 1.57 1.18 33

Cash Flow 
Cash flows from operating activities 15,188 9,608 58 32,922 26,103 26
Distributable cash (1) 11,053 7,904 40 36,329 29,421 23
Distributable cash per unit – diluted (1) 0.45 0.35 29 1.52 1.31 16
Cash distributions made 6,202 4,372 42 21,759 17,434 25
Cash distributions per unit (2) 0.255 0.195 31 0.92 0.78 18
Cash payout ratio (1) 56% 55% 60% 59%
Capital expenditures 10,680 3,449 210 33,908 14,610 132

Financial Position, December 31,  
Working capital 26,600 15,800 68
Long-term debt 5,000 1,775 182
Unitholders’ equity 90,198 59,860 51
Fund units outstanding 24,337,524 22,434,044 8

(1) Refer to non-GAAP measures section.
(2) Cash distributions made on a per unit basis in the year.
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Non–GAAP

The Fund uses certain performance measures throughout 
this MD&A that are not recognizable under Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). These 
performance measures include earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), 
EBITDA per unit, distributable cash, distributable cash 
per unit, and cash payout ratio. Management believes that 
these measures provide supplemental financial information 
that is useful in the evaluation of the Fund’s operations. 
Investors should be cautioned, however, that these measures 
should not be construed as alternatives to measures 
determined in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of 
Phoenix’s performance. Phoenix’s method of calculating 
these measures may differ from that of other organizations, 
and accordingly, these may not be comparable. Please refer 
to the non-GAAP measures section.

M e A s u r e s
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Overall
p e r f o r M A n c e

In 2008, Phoenix experienced increases in the demand 
for its services due to its success in strengthening market 
penetration in both Canada and the US. As a result, the 
Fund expanded its overall job capacity to achieve record 
financial and operating results. Phoenix’s strategies in 2008 
focused on maintaining a conservative balance sheet with 
no net debt while at the same time undertaking record 
capital expenditures of $33.9 million and rewarding 
unitholders with record cash distributions of $21.8 million. 
In 2008, Phoenix also continued to diversify and expand all 
operating locations organically and maintained its course 
of developing new technologies. 

Based on operating days, the Canadian and US operations 
posted activity increases in 2008 of 34 percent and 57 
percent, respectively. In Canada, day rates declined slightly 
in 2008, whereas in the US, day rates remained relatively flat 
throughout the year. As in past years, Phoenix’s Canadian 
and US operation growth rates continued to surpass the 
rate of growth realized in the respective geographical 
industries. When comparing 2008 industry activity levels 
to that of 2007, the number of horizontal and directional 
wells drilled in western Canada increased by seven percent, 
and the average number of active horizontal and directional 
drilling rigs in the US increased by 20 percent. 
 
The US operations accounted for a greater percentage 
of overall activity in 2008 contributing 54 percent of 
consolidated revenue, compared to 48 percent in 2007. In 
addition to this geographical diversification, the Fund also 
continued to have a balance between oil and natural gas 
well drilling services. Phoenix’s US drilling activity in 2008 
remained centered on natural gas wells, but in contrast, the 
drilling of oil wells represented approximately 54 percent 
of the Fund’s overall Canadian drilling activity.

Distributions to unitholders for the year ended December 
31, 2008 were $21.8 million, or $0.92 per unit, as 

compared to $17.4 million, or $0.78 per unit, in 2007. 
Effective for the Fund’s May 2008 distribution which 
was payable on June 13, 2008, the Board of Director’s of 
Phoenix Technology Services Inc., Manager for the Fund 
approved an increase in the monthly cash distributions 
from $0.06 per unit to $0.085 per unit. On an annualized 
basis this equates to distributions of $1.02 per unit. The 
Fund’s distributable cash in the 2008-year increased to a 
record $36.3 million which resulted in a cash payout ratio 
of 60 percent. Due in part to strong cash flows generated, 
working capital increased to $26.6 million as at December 
31, 2008, up from $15.8 million at year end 2007. 

By year end 2008, Phoenix’s job capacity increased by 18 
to 108 concurrent jobs through the addition of nine CLT 
EM-MWD systems and nine positive pulse MWD systems. 
This represents an increase of 20 percent over 2007. As at 
December 31, 2008, the Fund had a fleet of 55 CLT EM-
MWD systems and 53 positive pulse MWD systems. Of 
these total systems, 63 were deployed in Canada and 45 
were in the US. An additional five CLT EM-MWD systems 
and one positive pulse MWD system that were originally 
expected to be placed into service during the last quarter 
of 2008 were carried over into 2009. The majority of 
components used to manufacture these six systems were 
received prior to December 31, 2008 and correspondingly, 
these expenditures were part of the Fund’s reported 2008 
fourth quarter capital expenditure program. The Fund 
currently has no plans to add any further MWD systems in 
2009; therefore, it is anticipated that by year end Phoenix’s 
MWD fleet will be comprised of 60 CLT EM-MWD systems 
and 54 positive pulse MWD systems.

Current market uncertainty and financial market 
volatility is affecting the demand for oil and natural gas 
commodities, which in turn is causing reduced prices of 
these commodities. It is expected that at these current 
low price levels our customers’ drilling budgets will be 
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decreased in 2009 and as a result, the Fund will experience 
a lower demand for its services. In addition, it is expected 
that competitive forces will put downward pressures on 
the Fund’s customer day rates. The Fund will react to this 
development by decreasing its costs wherever possible. 
Despite the current industry conditions, the Fund at this 
time is experiencing a strong demand from its customers in 
both Canada and the US.

equItY fInAncInG 
On May 27, 2008 the Fund completed an equity financing to 
provide the funding of its 2008 capital expenditure program. 
Phoenix issued 1,250,000 units pursuant to a short form 
prospectus for net proceeds of $16.8 million. 

BusIness AcquIsItIons 
The Fund did not complete any business acquisitions in 
2008 nor 2007. The Fund has been successful in growing 
its business internally by strategically targeting key markets 
within the US and increasing its market share in both Canada 
and the US with  superior services and technology. 

KeY DrIVers of tHe funD’s BusIness 
Phoenix considers the following to be the key drivers of its 
business: 
 
 •		world	demand	for	natural	gas	and	oil	commodities	directly	

affect current and forecasted oil and natural gas prices. These 
in turn have a direct impact on Phoenix’s customers’ level of 
cash flows and their ability to fund capital drilling programs 
with debt or equity financing, ultimately impacting the 
Fund’s activity levels;  

	 •		new	drilling	technologies	must	be	continually	developed	for	
the Fund to further expand and meet the ongoing demands 
for greater operating efficiency from oil and natural gas 
producer companies; 

	 •		superior	customer	service	and	satisfaction	must	be	delivered	
consistently in order to retain business;

	 •		the	drilling	industry	is	very	competitive	and	the	Fund	must	
attract, train and retain key personnel in order to ensure 
future growth; and

 
	 •		policies	in	areas	such	as	taxation	put	in	place	by	government	

authorities can affect the profitability and overall activity 
levels of the industry, the Fund and its customers. 

KeY perforMAnce MeAsures 
There are several performance measures that are used by the 
Fund to assess its performance relative to its strategies and 
goals, the most significant of which are: 
 
 •	return	on	capital	employed;	

	 •		cash	 distributions	 as	 a	 percentage	 of	 cash	 flow:	The	 Fund	
currently targets to pay out approximately 65 percent of its 
cash flow; and 

	 •	health	and	safety	performance	targets.	
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2008 oIl AnD nAturAl GAs coMMoDItY prIces
Average oil prices in 2008 were 39 percent higher than in 2007 despite a dramatic weakening in prices during the last quarter 
of 2008. The average 2008 oil price, as measured by West Texas Intermediate on NYMEX, increased to US$100 per Bbl 
from US$72 per Bbl in 2007. In comparison, during the fourth quarter of 2008 oil prices averaged only US$59 per Bbl and 
the price as at December 31, 2008 was US$44.60 per Bbl. (Source: Peters & Co Limited)  

Natural gas prices in 2008 have followed a similar trend. As measured by the NYMEX Henry Hub, average natural gas 
prices increased by 25 percent from US$7.11 per Mcf in 2007 to US$8.92 per Mcf in 2008. Natural gas prices in the fourth 
quarter of 2008 averaged only US$6.39 per Mcf and the price at the end of the 2008-year was US$5.62 per Mcf. (Source: 
Peters & Co Limited)

cAnADIAn InDustrY
As indicated in the chart that follows, over the past several years the number of horizontal and directional wells drilled as 
a percentage of total wells drilled has been steadily increasing. In 2008, this percentage has reached an all time high of 44 
percent. Even though the number of total wells drilled in 2008 decreased by approximately nine percent as compared to 
2007, the number of horizontal and directional wells drilled in 2008 increased by seven percent to 7,502 wells. This higher 
percentage was generated from a larger number of horizontal oil well applications, primarily in SE Saskatchewan, that 
partially resulted from high oil commodity prices that presided in the first three quarters of 2008. In addition, natural gas 
wells which historically have used vertical drilling techniques are now, in some high profile areas such as the Montney in 
northern BC, utilizing horizontal drilling in conjunction with new well fracturing technologies that have resulted in improved 
production economics. Phoenix has continued to be an active drilling participant in regions such as the Montney and SE 
Saskatchewan in 2008, and as a result its activity levels were positively affected.

Industry Activity
A n D  s t A t I s t I c s
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HorIZontAl (HZ) & DIrectIonAl (DIr) Wells DrIlleD In cAnADA
Source: Daily Oil Bulletin

us InDustrY 
As with the trend in Canada, 2008 horizontal and directional drilling activity as a percentage of total drilling in the US 
increased, representing approximately 49 percent of all wells as compared to 44 percent in 2007. US producers, like their 
Canadian counterparts, were realizing the benefits of improved economics that utilize horizontal drilling in conjunction with 
advanced fracturing techniques in areas such as the Barnett Shale in Texas and the northeastern US.   

The chart that follows illustrates the increasing levels of horizontal and directional drilling activity in the US and shows the 
strong year-over-year increase in 2008. The average horizontal and directional rig count in the US increased by 20 percent to 
925 rigs as compared to 769 rigs in 2007. 

Hz & Dir wells drilled % of total wells drilled

28% 25% 25%
22% 22%
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AVerAGe YeArlY us HorIZontAl & DIrectIonAl rIG count
Source: Baker Hughes 

Although industry growth has been steadily increasing from 2004, the rate of growth slowed in the fourth quarter of 2008 
due to current uncertainties with respect to economic activity throughout the world and lower natural gas prices. This is 
depicted in the second chart below.

AVerAGe 2008 quArterlY us HorIZontAl & DIrectIonAl rIG count
Source: Baker Hughes
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Results of
o p e r A t I o n s

fInAncIAl HIGHlIGHts
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit amounts, percentages and units outstanding)

Years ended December 31,    2008 2007 % Change

Operating Results
Revenue 164,345 115,548 42
Net earnings 25,531 18,214 40
Earnings per unit – diluted 1.07 0.81 32
EBITDA (1) 37,640 26,533 42
EBITDA per unit – diluted (1) 1.57 1.18 33

Cash Flow 
Cash flows from operating activities 32,922 26,103 26
Distributable cash (1) 36,329 29,421 23
Distributable cash per unit – diluted (1) 1.52 1.31 16
Cash distributions made 21,759 17,434 25
Cash distributions per unit (2) 0.92 0.78 18
Cash payout ratio (1) 60% 59%
Capital expenditures 33,908 14,610 132

Financial Position, December 31,  
Working capital 26,600 15,800 68
Long-term debt 5,000 1,775 182
Unitholders’ equity 90,198 59,860 51
Fund units outstanding 24,337,524 22,434,044 8

(1) Refer to non-GAAP measures section.
(2) Cash distributions made on a per unit basis in the year.
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Aided by continued penetration within key Canadian and US markets and by a 20 percent expansion in job capacity, the 
Fund for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased its revenue by 42 percent to a record $164.3 million from $115.5 
million in 2007. The Canadian and US regions both reported record activity levels in 2008 that resulted in consolidated 
MWD operating days increasing by 46 percent to 16,710 days as compared to 11,432 days in 2007. Phoenix continued to 
diversify its client base in 2008, and its top client represented only 11.5 percent of the Fund’s consolidated revenue.

GeoGrApHIcAl locAtIons 
The Fund reports one operating segment on a geographical basis throughout the Canadian provinces of Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, British Columbia, Ontario and Manitoba and throughout the Gulf Coast, Northeast and Rocky Mountain 
regions of the US. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentage amounts)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Canada 76,045 60,092 27
United States 88,300 55,456 59

164,345 115,548 42
United States revenue as a % of consolidated revenue 54% 48%

Since 2003, US revenue has increased by over ten times or 926 percent, from $8.6 million (24 percent of consolidated 
revenue) to $88.3 million (54 percent of consolidated revenue) in 2008. This growth has been entirely internal and Phoenix 
still believes the US market presents future growth opportunities. The Fund estimates that in 2008 it had only a two percent 
share of the US market.

pHoenIX GeoGrApHIcAl reVenue
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cAnADIAn reVenue 
Phoenix’s Canadian revenue for the year ended December 
31, 2008 was a record $76.0 million compared to $60.1 
million in the 2007-year, an increase of 27 percent. Included 
in Canadian revenue for 2008 was $2.0 million relating to 
the Fund’s operations in Albania that commenced midway 
through the year. If the Albanian operations were excluded, 
2008 Canadian year end revenue increased by 23 percent as 
compared to 2007. 

Industry horizontal and directional drilling activity in Canada 
increased by seven percent in 2008 to 7,502 wells drilled 
from 7,011 wells drilled in 2007. In addition, horizontal and 
directional wells drilled represented 44 percent of total 2008 
wells drilled in the industry. (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin) In 
comparison, the Fund’s Canadian drilling days increased 
by 34 percent to 8,186 days (excluding 132 drilling days in 
Albania) as compared to 6,097 days in 2007.

For the 2008-year, approximately 54 percent of the Fund’s 
Canadian activity was represented by horizontal oil well 
drilling, compared to 45 percent in 2007. Phoenix realized 
significant increases in its drilling activity in several key 
operating areas as compared to 2007, namely: in the 
Montney region in northeastern British Columbia, where 
the number of wells drilled by the Fund increased by 142 
percent; within its Remote Access Directional Drilling 
(“RADD”) division whose shallow gas well drilling activity 
showed growth of 164 percent; and in horizontal oil well 
drilling that predominantly occurred in the Bakken region 
of southeastern Saskatchewan where 74 percent more wells 
were drilled.

Due to competitive market forces present in 2008, day rates 
realized were approximately 5 - 6 percent lower than that 
of 2007.

unIteD stAtes reVenue 
Nevis increased its revenue for the year ended December 
31, 2008 by 59 percent to a record $88.3 million from 
$55.5 million in 2007. Nevis operates predominantly in the 
natural gas drilling market in the US through three distinct 
regions: Gulf Coast, Northeast and Rocky Mountain. In 
the 2008-year, each region posted record revenue levels 
and demonstrated continued growth in the key gas play 
areas within the US. The regional growth for all areas was 
accomplished through the expansion of key marketing and 
operations personnel that occurred late in 2007 and early 
in 2008.

During the 2008-year,  Nevis continued to be an active 
participant with coal bed methane (“CBM”) de-gasification 
drilling services in West Virginia and Pennsylvania, and shale 
gas drilling in Kentucky, West Virginia, Pennsylvania and the 
Barnett Shale region in Texas. 

US operating days increased by approximately 57 percent to 
8,392 days in the 2008-year from 5,335 days in 2007. Due 
to the strength of drilling activity in the US industry, Nevis 
was able to maintain its customer day rates.
 
In comparison to Nevis’ growth, industry activity, as 
measured by the average number of horizontal and 
directional rigs running on a daily basis, increased by 20 
percent in 2008 to 925 rigs from 769 rigs in 2007. (Source: 
Baker Hughes)
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(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Direct costs 108,615 73,213 48
Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 34% 37%

Direct costs are comprised of field and shop expenses and include current period research and development (“R&D”) 
expenditures. Direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased by 48 percent and gross profit as a percentage 
of revenue declined by three percentage points from 2007. This percentage decline in gross profit was due to:

 •		increases	 in	Canadian	and	US	field	 labour	 costs	 in	2008	 that	 resulted	 from	 labour	 shortages	and	 tight	 labour	markets.	Due	 to	
competitive market forces, these increases were not passed onto customers; however, US customer day rates remained flat in 2008, 
whereas Canadian customer day rates were on average lower than 2007;

	 •		the	Fund	realizing	a	significantly	greater	number	of	horizontal	gamma	operating	days.	These	jobs	require	one	to	two	additional	
personnel and the Fund typically makes little or no margins on these; 

	 •	Phoenix	incurring	higher	performance	drilling	motor	repair	costs	as	a	result	of	fewer	charges	being	re-billed	to	customers;	and		

	 •		increases	in	R&D	projects	and	initiatives.	Net	R&D	expenses	increased	by	64	percent	to	$1.8	million	in	2008	as	compared	to	$1.1	
million in 2007.

 (Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) costs 18,344 12,681 45
SG&A costs as a percentage of revenue 11% 11%

SG&A costs for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased by 45 percent to $18.3 million from $12.7 million in 
2007. The increase in SG&A costs in 2008 is a direct result of higher sales and promotional related costs associated with 
increased activity. SG&A costs as a percentage of revenue were 11 percent for both 2008 and 2007. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Depreciation and amortization 9,160 7,165 28

Depreciation and amortization has increased as a result of current and past period capital expenditures. For the year 
ended December 31, 2008, these costs increased to $9.2 million from $7.2 million in 2007.

Operating
c o s t s  A n D  e X p e n s e s
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(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Provision for bad debts 396 1,748 (77)

The provision for bad debts for the year ended December 31, 2008 decreased to $0.4 million as compared to $1.7 
million in 2007. The bad debt provision in 2008 relates to a few Canadian and US customer accounts that are deemed 
uncollectable. A significant portion of last year’s expense was represented by one large US client that went into Chapter 
11 bankruptcy. A further $0.4 million bad debt provision was added in the 2007–year for another US client that ran into 
cash flow problems. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Stock-based compensation 1,407 1,419 (1)

Stock-based compensation was $1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008. These costs related to the 
amortization of the fair values of issued Fund options in previous periods using the Lattice-Binomial option-pricing model.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Foreign exchange loss 333 576 (42)

Foreign exchange losses are shown net of any gains and result primarily from the translation of US and Canadian-
denominated trade receivables and payable balances, and movements in US and Canadian dollar exchange rates. The 
unfavorable result in 2007 and the first nine-months of 2008 was due primarily to the strengthening Canadian dollar and 
the loss on translation of the Canadian-denominated inter-company loan between Phoenix and its US subsidiary.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Interest on long-term debt 63 111 (43)

Interest on long-term debt decreased for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to the 2007-year because of 
lower effective interest rates and lower average debt levels carried by the Fund during the 2008-year. All of the Fund’s 
long-term debt was repaid in the second quarter of 2008; however, proceeds of $5.0 million from the issuance of new 
long-term debt occurred during the fourth quarter of 2008.
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(Stated in thousands of dollars)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Other interest (income) (48) 3 n.m.
n.m. - not meaningful

Other interest is represented by interest income generated from short-term money market investments from excess cash 
balances held net of bank interest charges on overdraft facilities. Due to the equity issuance in May 2008, the Fund had 
excess cash balances and as a result interest income for a short period of time.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Gain on disposition of drilling equipment 2,391 624 283

The disposals relate primarily to equipment lost in well bores that are uncontrollable in nature. The gain reported is net 
of any asset retirements that are made before the end of the equipment’s useful life and self-insured downhole equipment 
losses, if any. The gains result from insurance programs undertaken whereby proceeds for the lost equipment are at 
current replacement values which are higher than the respective equipment’s book value.

(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Income taxes 2,934 1,041 182
Effective tax rate 10% 5%

The effective income tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2008 was 10 percent compared to an expected federal and 
provincial rate of 29.5 percent. The difference in the two rates of $5.5 million was primarily the result of the following: 

 •			a	reduction	of	$5.9	million	due	to	the	deductibility	of	declared	cash	distributions	that	are	allowable	in	calculating	taxable	income	
of the Fund; 

	 •	a	reduction	of	$0.3	million	due	to	the	benefit	received	from	enacted	federal	and	provincial	income	tax	rate	reductions;	and

	 •	an	increase	of	$0.7	million	due	to	the	non-deductibility	of	stock-based	compensation	and	other	expenses.

As an investment trust, the Fund is subject to income taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada) only on income not 
distributed to its unitholders. The Fund, unlike its subsidiaries, will not recognize any future tax assets or liabilities on 
differences between the accounting and tax basis of its assets and liabilities.
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(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages and per unit amounts)   

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Net earnings 25,531 18,214 40
Earnings per unit – diluted 1.07 0.81 32
EBITDA 37,640 26,533 42
EBITDA per unit – diluted 1.57 1.18 33
EBITDA as a percentage of revenue 23% 23%

The Fund’s levels of net earnings and EBITDA of $25.5 million and $37.6 million, respectively, for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 were both impacted by lower margins and higher SG&A costs. However, EBITDA as a percentage of 
revenue was 23 percent for both the 2008 and 2007-years.

(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)  

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007

Distributable cash 36,329 29,421
Cash distributions made 21,759 17,434
Cash payout ratio 60% 59%
Working capital as at December 31, 26,600 15,800

Distributions to unitholders for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $21.8 million, or $0.92 per unit, as compared 
to $17.4 million, or $0.78 per unit, in 2007. Effective for the Fund’s May 2008 distribution which was payable on June 
13, 2008, the Board of Director’s of Phoenix Technology Services Inc., Manager for the Fund approved an increase in the 
monthly cash distributions from $0.06 per unit to $0.085 per unit. On an annualized basis this equated to distributions 
of $1.02 per unit.

The resulting cash payout ratio in 2008 was 60 percent compared to 59 percent in 2007. Distributable cash for the year 
ended December 31, 2008 increased by 23 percent over 2007 to a record of $36.3 million. 

As at December 31, 2008, the Fund had working capital of $26.6 million, which was $10.8 million higher than the $15.8 
million reported at December 31, 2007. 

Liquidity



pHX.un

– 27 –

The following chart summarizes the Fund’s cash distributions in relation to GAAP performance measures:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Since inception

2008 2007 July 1, 2004
Cash flows from operating activities(1) 32,922 26,103 100,182
Net earnings 25,531 18,214 81,790
Cash distributions paid 21,759 17,434 70,772
Excess of cash flows from operating activities over cash 
 distributions paid 11,163 8,669 29,410
Excess of net earnings over cash distributions paid 3,772 780 11,018

(1) After net changes in non-cash working capital.

Due to Phoenix’s conservative distribution policy since the formation of the Fund on July 1, 2004, there have been sufficient 
levels of cash flows from operating activities and net earnings to cover the distributions made since inception and on an 
annual basis.

cAsH floW, DIstrIButIons AnD pAYout rAtIo 
The Fund considers its maintenance capital expenditures to be minimal. Maintenance capital would only be relevant to 
the Fund’s retirement of tubular equipment that is subsequently replaced. Typically, lost-in-hole equipment is replaced 
but these losses are funded by the proceeds from insurance or customers. In addition, due to the nature of the industry, 
downhole MWD and performance drilling motor equipment is frequently re-conditioned to an “as new” state with the 
associated costs expensed and included in the Fund’s operating expenses. 

The Fund reviews its distribution levels on a regular basis and sets its rates taking into consideration its own financial 
performance, forecasted activity levels and industry outlook. Currently, the Fund targets its annualized payout ratio to 
ideally be 65 percent of its distributable cash, in order to provide sufficient funding for capital growth expenditures. 
Activity levels in the industry are seasonal, and as a result, cash flow will fluctuate. Despite these fluctuations, Phoenix’s 
policy is to pay a consistent level of distributions throughout the year. 

For 2008, cash distributions of $21.8 million were financed entirely from the Fund’s cash flow from operations. Under the 
current level of forecasted activity in the Fund, it is anticipated that sufficient cash flow from operations will be generated 
to allow the Fund to maintain its current cash distribution rate to unitholders. However, the Fund’s ability to pay cash 
distributions to its unitholders is dependent upon, among other things, the realization of cash flow from operations and 
to the extent that the Fund does not meet its projected cash flow from operations, distributions to unitholders may be 
reduced. The declared distributions to unitholders in 2008 will be classified 100 percent as investment income and will be 
taxed in the unitholders’ hands on that basis.

Sustained current market uncertainty and financial market volatility may arise that could adversely affect the Fund’s cash 
flow from operations, such as reduced capital spending by producer companies and decreasing world oil and natural gas 
commodity prices. If a sustained downturn in activity occurred as a result of low commodity prices and the persistence of 
the current economic uncertainty and volatile financial markets, the Fund would review its distribution levels accordingly. 
However, due to the Fund’s low level of debt and financial strength, debt facilities could be utilized to fund a certain 
portion of distributions for a short term period if required.

Years ended December 31,



{pure play}

– 28 –

PHX

Investing 
A c t I V I t I e s

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $22.8 million as compared to $11.2 million 
in 2007. In order to meet increasing customer demand the Fund invested a record $33.9 million in capital equipment in 2008 
compared to $14.6 million in 2007. These 2008 expenditures allowed Phoenix to expand its MWD fleet by 18 systems or by 
20 percent from 2007 and it also assisted the Fund in minimizing expensive third-party equipment rentals, thereby improving 
profitability. The capital expenditure program undertaken in the year was financed from cash flow from operations, an 
equity financing and a portion of working capital. 

The Fund realized proceeds from the involuntary disposal of drilling equipment in well bores of $6.1 million in 2008, 
compared to $2.2 million in 2007. The change in non-cash working capital balances of $5.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 relates to the net change in the Fund’s trade payables that are associated with the acquisition of capital 
assets. This compares to $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

cApItAl eXpenDItures
(In millions of dollars)

*includes business acquisition of $5.5M in 2004 and $4.7M in 2005.

Phoenix has undertaken significant annual capital asset expansion programs since 2003 as shown above.

$4.4

$10.9
$14.1

$12.7
$14.6

$33.9

2003 2004* 2005* 2006 2007 2008
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The Fund had negative cash flows from financing activities of $0.5 million in 2008 as compared to $13.7 million in 2007. 
In the 2008-year:
 
 •	the	Fund	made	distributions	of	$21.8	million	to	unitholders,	or	$0.92	per	unit;

	 •	through	an	equity	financing	the	Fund	realized	net	proceeds	of	$16.8	million	through	the	issuance	of	1,250,000	Fund	units;

	 •		through	 its	 unit	 option	 program	 the	 Fund	 received	 cash	 proceeds	 of	 $4.0	 million	 from	 exercised	 options 
to acquire 653,480 Fund units; and

	 •		the	fund	re-paid	its	overdraft	facility	and	long-term	debt	facility	of	a	combined	$4.6	million.	Both	of	these	were	later	replaced	by	the	
issue of long-term debt of $5.0 million.

The Fund has access to a bank overdraft revolving facility of up to $5.0 million. This facility bears interest at the Fund’s 
option at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.375 percent or the bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a stamping fee of 1.25 percent. 
As at December 31, 2008, the Fund had no amounts drawn on this facility. 

On December 15, 2008, the Fund renewed its $20 million, 364-day extendible revolving facility with its bank. This bears 
interest at the Fund’s option at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.375 percent or the bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a stamping 
fee of 1.25 percent. The facility is renewable at the option of the lender. Should this facility not be extended, outstanding 
amounts will be transferred to a four-year term facility repayable at 1/25 of the amount outstanding for fifteen quarters with 
the remaining balance paid on the sixteenth quarter. At December 31, 2008, $5.0 million was drawn on this facility. 

As at December 31, 2008, the Fund was in compliance with all of its bank debt covenants. 

Financing

Capital

A c t I V I t I e s

r e s o u r c e s
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Historically, the Fund has financed its capital expenditures and acquisitions through cash flows from operating activities, 
debt and equity. The 2009 capital budget has been set at $10.2 million, of which $5.1 million represented 2008 orders 
that were carried over into 2009. These planned expenditures will be financed from cash flow from operations and by the 
Fund’s unused credit facilities or equity, if necessary. However, if a sustained period of market uncertainty and financial 
market volatility persists in 2009, the Fund’s activity levels, cash flows and access to credit maybe negatively impacted, 
and the expenditure level would be reduced accordingly. Conversely, if future growth opportunities present themselves, 
the Fund would look at expanding this planned capital expenditure amount. 

The Company has various contractual obligations outstanding that have been incurred in the normal course of operations: 

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Total 1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years

Operating leases 7,184 2,158 3,111 1,915
Purchase obligations 5,115 5,115 – –
Long-term debt 5,000 – 1,600 3,400
Total 17,299 7,273     4,711    5,315

The purchase obligations are commitments that were outstanding as at December 31, 2008 for drilling and other equipment. 

Cash Requirements
f o r  c A p I t A l  e X p e n D I t u r e s

Contractual
o B l I G A t I o n s
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The Fund had no off-balance sheet arrangements as at December 31, 2008 and 2007. 

During 2008 the Fund paid $27,500 (2007 – $15,500) in director’s fees to a company owned by a director. During 2007, 
the Fund was charged $218,156 for the provision of various legal services from a director’s firm of which at the time he was 
a partner. These transactions were completed in the normal course of operations on normal market terms and are measured 
at the exchange amounts. 

Off-Balance Sheet

Transactions

A r r A n G e M e n t s

W I t H  r e l A t e D  p A r t I e s
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Fourth
q u A r t e r

fInAncIAl HIGHlIGHts
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit amounts and percentages)

Three-month periods ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Operating Results (unaudited) (unaudited)
Revenue 48,065 31,018 55
Net earnings 6,414 5,281 21
Earnings per unit – diluted 0.26 0.23 13
EBITDA (1) 9,039 7,279 24
EBITDA per unit – diluted (1) 0.37 0.32 16
Cash Flow
Cash flows from operating activities 15,188 9,608 58
Distributable cash (1) 11,053 7,904 40
Distributable cash per unit – diluted (1) 0.45 0.35 29
Cash distributions made 6,202 4,372 42
Cash distributions per unit (2) 0.255 0.195 31
Cash payout ratio(1) 56% 55%

(1) Refer to non-GAAP measures section.
(2) Cash distributions made on a per unit basis in the year.

reVenue 
Consolidated revenue for the three-month period ended December 31, 2008 increased by 55 percent to $48.1 million from 
$31.0 million in the corresponding 2007 period. This revenue level was the second best quarterly result for the Fund. 
Consolidated operating days for the 2008 period increased to 4,393 days as compared to 3,242 days, an increase of
36 percent.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Three-month periods December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Canada 22,092 16,057 38
United States 25,973 14,961 74

48,065 31,018 55



pHX.un

– 33 –

Despite the weakening of oil and natural gas prices during the fourth quarter of 2008, Canadian industry horizontal and 
directional activity for the three-month period ended December 31, 2008 increased by eight percent to 2,169 wells compared 
to 2,009 wells in the corresponding 2007 period. (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin)  

During this same period, the Fund’s Canadian operating days increased by 31 percent to 2,270 days in 2008 from 1,737 days 
in the comparable 2007 period. The Fund had an additional 60 operating days that related to its Albanian operations in the 
three-month period ended December 31, 2008. Included in Canadian revenue of $22.1 million is $1.3 million in revenue 
generated in Albania. If this revenue was excluded, Canadian revenue increased by 30 percent from $16.1 million in the 2007 
period to $20.8 million in the 2008 period.  

Diversification in oil well drilling services continued in the fourth quarter of 2008 with approximately 45 percent (2007 - 48 
percent) of the Fund’s Canadian revenue related to the drilling of oil wells, the majority of which were in southern Saskatchewan.
 
Due to strong revenue growth in all of its regions, Nevis achieved record quarterly revenue of $26.0 million for the three-
month period ended December 31, 2008 as compared to $15.0 million for the 2007 period, equating to an increase of  
74 percent.

Operating days for the 2008 period increased by 37 percent to 2,063 days from 1,505 days in the corresponding 2007 
period. The increase in revenue was significantly higher than the increase in operating days due to more favorable exchange 
rates and less daily rentals present in the fourth quarter of 2008. Customer day rates in the 2008 period were flat when 
compared to 2007 rates.   

In the fourth quarter of 2008, US revenue accounted for 54 percent of consolidated revenue, compared to 48 percent in 2007. 
The average number of active rigs in the US for the period increased by 26 percent to 996 rigs as compared to 789 rigs in 
2007. (Source: Baker Hughes)

operAtInG costs AnD eXpenses
(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)

Three-month periods ended December 31, 2008 2007 % Change

Direct costs 33,496 19,830 69
Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 30% 36%
SG&A costs 5,634 3,299 71
SG&A as a percentage of revenue 12% 11%

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2008, direct costs increased by 69 percent to $33.5 million compared to 
$19.8 million in 2007. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue declined from 36 percent in 2007 to 30 percent in 2008, 
resulting primarily from: 

 •		Canadian	and	US	field	labour	costs	continuing	to	increase	in	the	2008	period	because	of	the	tight	labour	markets	that	existed	
in both countries; 

	 •	some	abnormally	high	US	equipment	repairs	that	were	incurred	in	the	2008	period;

	 •	a	sales	tax	adjustment	that	was	made	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2008	relating	to	transfer	pricing	updates;	and

	 •	research	and	development expenses increasing by 103 percent to $542,000 in the 2008 period from $267,000 in 2007.
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SG&A costs increased by 71 percent for the three-month period ended December 31, 2008 to $5.6 million as compared to 
$3.3 million in 2007. As a percentage of revenue, SG&A was 12 percent in the 2008 period as compared to 11 percent in 
2007. As estimated in last year’s annual report, it was expected that SG&A as a percentage of revenue would be between 11 
and 13 percent of revenue. The increase in 2008 is attributable to personnel and marketing related costs that have increased 
with the Fund’s higher level of activity. 

As a result of the large capital expenditure programs adopted in the past few periods, depreciation increased by 42 percent 
to $2.7 million in the 2008 quarter from $1.9 million in 2007.
 
The Fund made a provision for bad debts of $0.4 million in the three-month period ended December 31, 2008 as compared 
to $0.7 million in the 2007 period. The current year’s provision relates to two US clients outstanding amounts that are 
deemed uncollectable.

The Fund realized a gain on disposal of drilling equipment of $0.8 million in the 2008 quarter as compared to $0.5 
million in 2007. This gain was related to the losses of several pieces of insured downhole equipment and its occurrence is 
uncontrollable in nature.

(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)

Three-month periods ended December 31, 2008 2007
Income taxes (132) 82
Effective tax rate n/a 2%

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2008, the Fund reported a recovery for income taxes of $0.1 million as 
compared to a provision of $0.1 million in 2007. The recovery in the 2008 period relates to adjustments to the Fund’s 
income tax rate, which was estimated to be 14 percent in the third quarter of 2008 as compared to the actual year end 
rate of 10 percent. 

The Fund currently has no plans to make any material business acquisitions or capital asset divestitures. In 2009, the 
Fund plans to spend $10.2 million in capital equipment acquisitions, $5.1 million of which has been carried over from 
the 2008-year. 

Proposed
t r A n s A c t I o n s
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The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are 
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The Fund’s significant 
accounting policies are described under Note 1 to these 
statements. Management, in preparing these financial 
statements, is required to make estimates and judgments 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenue and expenses. These estimates and judgments are 
based upon assumptions that are considered reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from 
such estimates and judgments by a material amount. The 
estimates and judgments used that are most critical to the 
reporting of the Fund’s results of operations, cash flow, 
and financial position are as follows: 

reVenue recoGnItIon 
The Fund recognizes revenue as services are provided. 
The Fund’s services are sold based upon bid acceptances 
of contracts with customers that include fixed or 
determinable prices based upon daily, hourly or job 
rates. Revenue is recognized when services or rentals are 
provided, and when collections are assured. 

VAluAtIon of Accounts receIVABle 
The Fund’s trade accounts receivable are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and the Fund makes an allowance for 
specific accounts that are deemed to be uncollectable. 
Due to the nature of exploration risks taken by producer 
companies, the ability of these companies to fulfill 
their obligations can change quickly, especially within 
the current state of economic and financial market 
uncertainty in North America and throughout the world, 
and as a result the valuation of accounts receivable may 
become impaired. 

DeprecIAtIon of DrIllInG
AnD otHer equIpMent 
The Fund has estimated the useful lives and residual values 
of its drilling and other equipment. The Fund has also 
estimated the depreciation method that best reflects the 
utilization pattern of the various assets. These estimates can 
change as technological advancements are made within the 
industry and adjustments may become necessary. 

lonG-lIVeD Assets 
Management assesses the carrying value of long-lived assets 
on a periodic basis for indications of impairment. Indications 
of impairment include an ongoing lack of profitability and 
significant changes in technology. Due to future technological 
advances that may occur in the industry, long-lived assets 
could become impaired in subsequent periods. 

GooDWIll 
Goodwill is not amortized, and is tested for impairment 
annually at the end of each financial year. Management of 
the Fund has determined that there has been no impairment 
to the carrying value of goodwill as at December 31, 2008. 
Due to the cyclical nature of the industry, goodwill valuations 
could be materially different in the future. 

IncoMe tAXes 
The Fund’s subsidiaries follow the liability method of 
accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, 
future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 
future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets 
and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Valuation 
allowances are taken against future tax assets when it is 

Critical Accounting
e s t I M A t e s
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determined that it is more likely than not, that the asset 
will not be realized in its entirety. The Fund’s subsidiaries 
have also recorded benefits associated with investment and 
foreign business tax credits.

The subsidiaries forecasted future income tax liability 
takes into consideration whether a valuation allowance is 
required with respect to tax loss carry-forward amounts or 
whether the tax credits recognized would be realizable. Due 
to the cyclical nature of the industry, and the current state 
of economic uncertainty that may impact the Fund’s future 
operations, the future forecasted income tax liability could 
change, and the realization of these assets in whole or in part 
may not occur. 

trAnslAtIon of foreIGn suBsIDIArY 
The Fund’s US subsidiary is accounted for as a self-
sustaining operation. Accordingly, the subsidiary’s accounts 
in foreign currencies and operations have been translated 
into Canadian dollars using the current rate method. 
Monetary and non-monetary items denominated in US 
dollars are translated to Canadian dollars at the exchange 
rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and 
expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the 
month the transaction occurred. Gains or losses arising on 
translation are deferred and reported as a foreign currency 
adjustment as a separate component of unitholders’ 
equity. Circumstances can change in the future whereby 
the subsidiary could be classified as fully integrated and, 
as a result, gains or losses arising on translation would be 
charged or credited against net earnings.

stocK-BAseD coMpensAtIon 
The Fund has a unit option plan that is described in the 
notes to its annual audited financial statements. The fair 
value of each option granted is calculated using the Lattice-
Binomial option-pricing model which includes various 
assumptions. The use of different assumptions could 
materially alter the amount of stock-based compensation 
expense charged against net earnings. 
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Effective at the commencement of its 2008 fiscal year, the Fund has adopted Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
approved disclosure and presentation requirements for financial instruments that revise and enhance the disclosure 
requirements of Section 3861 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation (CICA 3861). These requirements 
included Sections 3862 Financial Instruments: Disclosure (CICA 3862), and Section 3863 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation (CICA 3863), which replaced CICA 3861, and Section 1535 Capital Disclosures (CICA 1535), which 
establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and how it is managed. CICA 1535 requires 
disclosure of an entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, quantitative data about what the entity 
regards as capital and whether the entity has complied with any capital requirements and, if it has not complied, the 
consequences of such non-compliance. The Fund has also adopted accounting requirements for Section 3031 Inventories 
(CICA 3031) and for Section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets (CICA 3064). Adjustments to the financial statements 
have been made in accordance with the transitional provisions for these new standards and did not have a material impact 
for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Effective January 1, 2011, Canadian public companies are required to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). In the time leading up to the conversion date, some existing Canadian standards will change to converge with 
IFRS. The Fund’s financial statements up to and including the December 31, 2010 financial statements will continue to be 
reported in accordance with GAAP as it exists on each reporting date. Financial statements for the quarter ended March 
31, 2011, including comparative amounts, will be prepared on an IFRS basis. 

In order to transition to IFRS, management has established a project team which has been developing a transition plan to 
convert the financial statements to IFRS. Training has been conducted for key employees, and is ongoing. An analysis of 
the difference between IFRS and Fund’s current accounting policies is underway, and the impact of various alternatives 
will be assessed in 2009. Changes in accounting policy are likely and may materially impact the financial statements. Due 
to anticipated changes in IFRS prior to the conversion date, the final impact of the conversion on Company’s financial 
statements cannot be measured. 

Changes in

Future Changes

A c c o u n t I n G  p o l I c I e s

I n  A c c o u n t I n G  p o l I c I e s
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creDIt rIsK 
The Fund is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers 
that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and 
development industry. The Fund’s credit risk associated 
with these customers can be directly impacted by a decline 
in economic conditions, which would impair the customer’s 
ability to satisfy their obligations to the Fund. During the 
year ended December 31, 2008, one customer comprised 
12 percent of total revenue or $18.9 million. The Fund 
considers accounts receivable outstanding less than 120 days 
to be current. All account receivable balances outstanding 
over 120 days represent two percent or $768,000 of total 
receivables on the balance sheet at December 31, 2008. 
Management considers this to be the maximum credit risk 
exposure of which eight percent or $60,000 represents 
receivables from US customers. Management considers all 
amounts collectible at December 31, 2008.

The Fund has a credit management program to assist in 
managing this risk which consists of conducting financial 
and other assessments to establish and monitor a customer’s 
creditworthiness. The Fund monitors and manages its 
credit risk on an ongoing basis.

lIquIDItY rIsK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will not be able to 
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Fund 
has financial liabilities, thus, is exposed to liquidity risk. 
The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure 
that it always has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet 
its obligations when due. Management typically forecasts 
cash flows for a period of 12 months to identify financing 
requirements. These requirements are then addressed 
through a combination of demand credit facilities and 
access to capital markets. The Fund believes that future 
cash flows generated by the operations and access to 
additional liquidity through capital and banking markets 
will be adequate to meet its financial obligations even 

during the current times of economic uncertainty.

fAIr VAlues of fInAncIAl InstruMents 
The Fund has designated its cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, income taxes 
payable and distributions payable as held-for-trading, 
which are measured at fair value. Accounts receivable are 
designated as loans and receivables, measured at amortized 
cost. The Fund’s carrying values of these items approximate 
their fair value due to the relatively short periods to 
maturity of the instruments. Long-term debt has been 
designated as an other financial liability, and it is measured 
at amortized cost. The fair value of long-term debt included 
in the consolidated balance sheet approximates fair values 
as the indebtedness is subject to floating rates of interest.

Interest rAte rIsK 
The Fund has variable interest long-term debt which 
exposes it to fluctuations in cash interest payment amounts. 
The Fund manages its exposure to interest rate risk through 
short-term renewable borrowings. As at December 31, 
2008 the Fund had $5 million in long-term debt.

foreIGn eXcHAnGe rIsK 
Foreign exchange risk is created by fluctuations in the fair 
values of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Due to operations of the Fund’s subsidiary 
in the US, the Fund has an exposure to foreign currency 
exchange rates. Both the carrying values of US dollar 
denominated monetary assets and liabilities and earnings 
are subject to foreign exchange risk. Currently, there is 
no management program in place to mitigate this foreign 
exchange risk.

Financial
I n s t r u M e n t s
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The Fund’s operations are subject to certain factors that 
are beyond its control. A significant portion of the Fund’s 
operating costs are variable in nature, and as a result the 
impact of a significant decline in demand for the Fund’s 
services on its financial results is lessened.

GloBAl fInAncIAl crIsIs
Recent market events and conditions, including disruptions 
in the international credit markets and other financial 
systems and the deterioration of global economic conditions, 
have caused significant volatility to commodity prices. 
These conditions worsened in 2008 and are continuing in 
2009 which is causing a loss of confidence in the broader 
Canadian, US and global credit and financial markets and 
resulting in the collapse of, and government intervention in, 
major banks, financial institutions and insurers and creating 
a climate of greater volatility, less liquidity, widening 
of credit spreads, a lack of price transparency, increased 
credit losses and tighter credit conditions. Notwithstanding 
various actions by governments, concerns about the general 
condition of the capital markets, financial instruments, 
banks, investment banks, insurers and other financial 
institutions caused the broader credit markets to further 
deteriorate and stock markets to decline substantially. These 
factors have negatively impacted company valuations and 
will impact the performance of the global economy going 
forward. Oil and natural gas prices are expected to remain 
volatile for the near future as a result of market uncertainties 
over the supply and demand of these commodities due to 
the current state of the world economies, OPEC actions 
and the ongoing global credit and liquidity concerns. This 
commodity price volatility will directly impact the level of 
capital spending by the Fund’s customers and the ultimate 
demand placed upon the Fund for its services. 

cApItAl requIreMents
The Fund anticipates making capital expenditures of $10.2 
million for the acquisition of drilling equipment in 2009. 

As the Fund’s revenues may decline because of a decreased 
activity levels, it may be required to reduce its planned capital 
expenditures. In addition, uncertain levels of near term 
industry activity coupled with the present global credit crisis 
exposes the Fund to additional capital risk. There can be no 
assurance that debt or equity financing, or cash generated 
by operations will be available or sufficient to meet these 
capital expenditure requirements or for other corporate 
purposes, or if debt or equity financing is available, that it 
will be on terms acceptable to the Fund. The inability of 
the Fund to access sufficient capital for its operations could 
have a material adverse effect on Phoenix’s business financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects.

tAXAtIon of DIstrIButIons /
cHAnGe In cApItAl structure
On June 22, 2007, Bill C-52, an Act to implement certain 
provisions of the budget tabled in Parliament on March 19, 
2007 (“Bill C-52 Amendments”), was substantially enacted 
as legislation in Canada. Bill C-52 Amendments implement 
proposals originally announced on October 31, 2006 
relating to the taxation of certain distributions from certain 
trusts and partnerships. Bill C-52 Amendments apply 
commencing January 1, 2007 to all “specified investment 
flow-through” (“SIFT”) trusts that begin to be publicly 
traded after October 2006 and January 1, 2011 for all SIFT 
trusts that were already publicly traded before November 
2006, subject to the possibility that a SIFT trust that 
was already publicly traded before November 2006 may 
become subject to the new rules before January 1, 2011 if 
the trust experiences growth, other than “normal growth”, 
before then. Bill C-52 Amendments incorporate guidelines 
with respect to what is meant by “normal growth”.

The Fund would be a SIFT trust under Bill C-52 Amendments 
but for the deferred implementation to January 11, 2011 
described above. As a result, commencing in January 2011, 
provided that the Fund experiences only “normal growth” 

Business Risk
f A c t o r s
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and no “undue expansion” before then, the Fund will 
be liable for tax at the “net corporate income tax rate” 
combined with the “provincial SIFT tax rate”. Under 
proposed regulations to the Income Trust Act (Canada), 
the provincial SIFT tax rate will be based on the general 
provincial corporate income tax rate in each province in 
which the Fund has a permanent establishment.

Given the two-year grace period remaining before existing 
trusts will be taxed, Phoenix has an opportunity to examine 
its strategy and, if warranted, to convert its capital structure 
to that of a Corporation. In connection with any such re-
organization the current distributions policies of the Fund 
may potentially be replaced by a dividend policy of a new 
Corporation which would most likely reduce the cash 
distributions compared with the current distribution level 
of the Fund. The new Corporation will be subject to both 
Federal and Provincial income taxes.

creDIt rIsK 
The Fund is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers 
that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and 
development industry. The Fund’s credit risk associated 
with these customers can be directly impacted by a decline 
in economic conditions, which would impair the customer’s 
ability to satisfy their obligations to the Fund. Due to 
the global financial crisis, which includes a great deal of 
economic uncertainty and tight credit markets, this risk has 
been substantially increased. 

enVIronMentAl rIsKs 
All phases of the oil and natural gas business present 
environmental risks and hazards and are subject to 
environmental regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, 
provincial and local laws and regulations. Compliance with 
such legislation can require significant expenditures and a 
breach may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, 
some of which may be material. Environmental legislation is 
evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards 
and enforcement, larger fines and liability, and potentially 
increased capital expenditures and operating costs. In 2002, 
the Government of Canada ratified the Kyoto Protocol (the 
“Protocol”), which calls for Canada to reduce its greenhouse 
gas emissions to specified levels. There has been much public 
debate with respect to Canada’s ability to meet these targets 

and the government’s strategy or alternative strategies with 
respect to climate change and the control of greenhouse 
gases. Implementation of strategies for reducing greenhouse 
gases, whether to meet the limits required by the Protocol 
or as otherwise determined, could have a material impact 
on the nature of oil and natural gas operations, including 
those of the Fund and the Fund’s customers. Given the 
evolving nature of the debate related to climate change and 
the control of greenhouse gases and the possible resulting 
requirements, it is not possible to predict either the nature 
of those requirements or the impact on the Fund and its 
operations and financial condition. 

eMploYees 
The success of the Fund will be dependent upon key 
personnel. Loss of the services from such persons 
could have a material adverse effect on the business 
and operations of the Fund. The ability of the Fund to 
expand its services is dependent upon its ability to attract 
additional qualified employees. 

Access to equIpMent AnD DeVelopMent 
of neW tecHnoloGY
The ability of the Fund to compete and expand is dependent 
upon it having access to certain drilling equipment and 
components at a reasonable cost, and upon its ability to 
develop or acquire new competitive technology. The Fund 
purchases equipment from various suppliers in the oil and 
natural gas drilling service industry. There can be no assurance 
that these sources for equipment will be maintained. If such 
equipment is not available, and is not available from any 
other source, the Fund’s ability to compete may be impaired. 

coMpetItIon 
The Fund’s major competitors are principally large 
multinational companies with significantly greater resources 
available for marketing and R&D programs. The Fund also 
competes with a number of other small and medium sized 
companies. Like the Fund, these companies have certain 
competitive advantages such as low overhead costs and 
specialized regional strengths. The Fund’s ability to generate 
revenue depends on its ability to obtain contracts and to 
perform services within projected times and costs. 
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oIl AnD nAturAl GAs InDustrY rIsK 
There are risks associated with the provision of drilling services to the oil and natural gas industry. The Fund may become 
liable for risks against which it may choose not to insure due to high premium costs, or which may exceed the limits of policy 
coverage. Interruptions and delays caused by adverse weather conditions, equipment failures or other events can significantly 
adversely affect revenue. While the Fund will maintain liability insurance, the insurance is subject to coverage limits. There 
can be no assurance that insurance will continue to be available to the Fund on commercially reasonable terms, that the 
possible types of liabilities that may be incurred by the Fund will be covered by its insurance, or that the dollar amount of 
such liabilities will not exceed policy limits. Even a partially uninsured claim, if successful and of sufficient magnitude, could 
have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations and prospects. 

seAsonAlItY 
In general, the level of activity of the Canadian oilfield service industry is influenced by seasonable weather patterns. Wet 
weather and the spring thaw may make the ground unstable. Consequently, municipalities and provincial transportation 
departments enforce road bans that restrict the movement of rigs and other heavy equipment, thereby reducing activity 
levels. Additionally, certain oil and natural gas producing areas are located in areas that are inaccessible, except during winter 
months, because the ground surrounding or containing the drilling sites in these areas consists of swampy terrain known as 
muskeg. 

foreIGn operAtIons 
The Fund will conduct a certain portion of its business in the US. Any change in government policies could have a significant 
impact on business in the US. Risks of foreign operations include, but are not necessarily limited to, changes of laws affecting 
foreign ownership, government participation, taxation, royalties, duties, rates of exchange, inflation, exchange control and 
repatriation of earnings. There are no assurances that the economic and political conditions in the countries in which the 
Fund operates will continue as they are at the present time. The effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted. See 
also the risk factors described in the Fund’s Annual Information Form. 

This MD&A has been prepared by the management of Phoenix Technology Services Inc., the Manager of the Phoenix 
Technology Income Fund. The MD&A has also been reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and the Board of 
Directors of Phoenix Technology Services Inc. Additional information relating to the Fund’s Corporate Governance can 
be found in the Fund’s Annual Information Form (“AIF”) and Information Circular, each of which is filed on SEDAR at  
www.sedar.com. 

Corporate
G o V e r n A n c e
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The Fund’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their 
supervision, disclosure controls and procedures. Such officers have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their 
supervision, the disclosure controls and procedures at the financial year end of the Fund and have concluded that the 
Fund’s disclosure controls and procedures as at the financial year end of the Fund are effective, at the financial year end of 
the Fund, to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) material information relating to the Fund is made known to the Fund’s 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer by others, particularly during the period in which the annual filings 
are being prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Fund in its annual filings, interim filings or other 
reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the 
time period specified in securities legislation.

The Fund’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their 
supervision, internal controls over financial reporting. Such officers have also evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under 
their supervision, the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal controls over financial reporting at the financial year end of the 
Fund and have concluded that such internal controls over financial reporting are effective, at the financial year end of the 
Fund, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Fund’s financial reporting and preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

The Fund is required to disclose herein any change in the Fund’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred 
during the period beginning on October 1, 2008 and ended on December 31, 2008 that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Fund’s internal controls over financial reporting. No material changes in the Fund’s 
internal controls over financial reporting were identified during such period that has materially affected, or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the Fund’s internal controls over financial reporting.

It should be noted that a control system, including the Fund’s disclosure and internal controls and procedures, no matter 
how well conceived, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system will 
be met and it should not be expected that the disclosure and internal controls and procedures will prevent all errors or fraud.

Disclosure Controls
A n D  p r o c e D u r e s

Internal Controls
o V e r  f I n A n c I A l  r e p o r t I n G
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(In thousands of units) 

As at February 24, 2009

Fund units – basic 24,355
Dilutive securities: 
   Options 1,381
Fund units – diluted 25,736

The following selected annual financial information was obtained from the audited consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with GAAP.

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit amounts)

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006

Revenue 164,345 115,548 99,346
Net earnings 25,531 18,214 20,638
Earnings per unit – basic 1.08 0.81 0.93
Earnings per unit – diluted 1.07 0.81 0.92
Long-term debt 5,000 1,775 1,775
Total assets 133,935 85,353 78,468
 

Outstanding Fund
u n I t  D A t A

Selected Annual
f I n A n c I A l  I n f o r M A t I o n
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Due to the continued building of its market share and job capacity in Canada and the US, the Fund’s revenue increased by 
42 percent in 2008 over 2007, and by 16 percent in 2007 over 2006. Oil and natural gas commodity prices were higher on 
average in 2008 as compared to 2007 and as a result the drilling budgets of the Fund’s customers expanded significantly. 

Phoenix’s net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased by 40 percent from 2007 and decreased by 12 
percent in 2007 from 2006. The Fund experienced a decline in its operating margins in 2007 as compared to 2006 due to 
lower Canadian day rates and higher labour costs in both Canada and the US. The trend of higher labour costs continued 
into the 2008-year. 

Phoenix’s total assets have increased steadily since December 31, 2006 to $133.9 million as at December 31, 2008. The 
large increase in total assets in the 2008-year is due primarily to the Fund’s record financial net income and cash flow from 
operations results, and equity financing that occurred in May 2008.

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit amounts)

Dec-08 Sept-08 Jun-08 Mar-08 Dec-07 Sept-07 Jun-07 Mar-07

Revenue 48,065 48,206 29,062 39,011 31,018 33,560 20,961 30,008
Net earnings 6,414 9,525 2,280 7,311 5,281 6,129 928 5,875
Earnings per unit – basic 0.26 0.39 0.10 0.33 0.24 0.27 0.04 0.26
Earnings per unit – diluted 0.26       0.38       0.09       0.32 0.23 0.26 0.04 0.26

Activity levels in western Canada vary considerably due to seasonal weather patterns. Traditionally, the first quarter of the 
calendar year is the most active for service companies due to cold weather; however, due to favorable commodity price 
levels over the past two years the third quarter has been the Fund’s most active. The ability to move heavy equipment in the 
Canadian oil and natural gas fields is dependent on weather conditions. As warm weather returns in the spring, the winter’s 
frost comes out of the ground rendering many secondary roads incapable of supporting the weight of heavy equipment until 
they have thoroughly dried out. The duration of this “spring break-up” has a direct impact on the Fund’s activity levels. As 
a result, late March through May is traditionally the Fund’s slowest time, as such, the operating results of the Fund vary on 
a quarterly basis. The Fund’s activity levels in the US are not impacted during this Canadian spring break-up period. 

Summary
o f  q u A r t e r l Y  r e s u l t s
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1) eBItDA 
EBITDA, defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, is not a financial measure that is 
recognized under GAAP. However, management believes that EBITDA provides supplemental information to net earnings 
that is useful in evaluating the Fund’s operations before considering how it was financed or taxed in various countries. 
Investors should be cautioned, however, that EBITDA should not be construed as an alternative measure to net earnings 
determined in accordance with GAAP. Phoenix’s method of calculating EBITDA may differ from that of other organizations 
and, accordingly, its EBITDA may not be comparable to that of other companies.

The following is a reconciliation of net earnings to EBITDA:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31,

2008 2007 2008 2007

Net earnings $       6,414 $      5,281 $     25,531 $     18,214
Add (deduct):
Depreciation and amortization 2,739 1,876 9,160 7,165
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (132) 82 2,934 1,041
Interest on long-term debt 23 31 63 110
Other interest (income) (5) 9 (48) 3
EBITDA as reported $      9,039 $     7,279 $     37,640 $     26,533

EBITDA per unit - diluted is calculated using the treasury stock method whereby deemed proceeds on the exercise of the 
unit options are used to reacquire fund units at an average unit price. The calculation of EBITDA on a dilutive basis does 
not include anti-dilutive options.

2) DIstrIButABle cAsH
Distributable cash is defined as cash flows generated from operating activities before net changes in non-cash working 
capital, excluding bad debt provisions, and is not a measure recognized under GAAP. However, management believes that 
distributable cash provides supplemental information to cash flows from operating activities that is useful in evaluating 
the Fund’s operating cash flow before considering changes in working capital balances. Management uses this measure 
to calculate its cash payout ratio to show what percentage of its distributable cash is paid out to its unitholders. Investors 
should be cautioned, however, that distributable cash should not be construed as an alternative measure to cash flows from 
operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP. Phoenix’s method of calculating distributable cash may differ 
from that of other organizations and, accordingly, its distributable cash may not be comparable to that of other companies. 

Non-GAAP
M e A s u r e s
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The Fund considers its maintenance capital expenditures to be minimal. Maintenance capital would only be relevant to the 
Fund’s retirement of tubular equipment that is subsequently replaced. Typically, lost-in-hole equipment is replaced but these 
losses are funded by the proceeds from insurance or customers. In addition, due to the nature of the industry, the Fund’s 
drilling equipment is frequently re-conditioned to an “as new” state with the associated costs expensed and included in 
the Fund’s direct costs. Consequently, the Fund will not make an adjustment to distributable cash for capital maintenance 
expenditures. The Fund’s assumptions used with respect to maintenance capital are believed to be reasonable at the time 
of preparation; however, no assurance can be given that these assumptions will prove to be correct and, consequently, the 
Fund’s distributable cash could differ materially in the future.

The following is a reconciliation of net earnings to distributable cash:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31,

2008 2007 2008 2007

Net earnings $      6,414 $      5,281 $     25,531 $     18,214
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash:
Depreciation and amortization 2,739 1,876 9,160 7,165
Future income taxes 2,240 65 2,251 771
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) (241) 175 (25) 728
Gain on disposition of drilling equipment (829) (547) (2,391) (624)
Stock-based compensation 342 392 1,407 1,419
Provision for bad debts 388 662 396 1,748
Distributable cash $     11,053 $      7,904 $     36,329 $     29,421

Distributable cash per unit - diluted is calculated using the treasury stock method whereby deemed proceeds on the exercise 
of the unit options are used to reacquire fund units at an average unit price. The calculation of distributable cash per unit on 
a dilutive basis does not include anti-dilutive options.

3) cAsH pAYout rAtIo
The cash payout ratio is defined as cash distributions made by the Fund in the period divided by its distributable cash for 
the same period. The cash payout ratio is not a measure recognized under GAAP. However, management believes the cash 
payout ratio provides supplemental information that is useful in evaluating the level of cash distributions in relation to the 
Fund’s distributable cash. Investors should be cautioned, however, that the cash payout ratio should not be construed as an 
alternative measure to other GAAP measures. Phoenix’s method of calculating its cash payout ratio may differ from other 
organizations and, accordingly, the cash payout ratio may not be comparable to other companies. 
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Phoenix enjoyed an extremely successful financial year in 2008 with all financial and operating measures at record levels. 
More importantly, even after spending a record $33.9 million in capital expenditures and paying out a record $21.8 
million in cash distributions, the Fund exited 2008 with a very strong balance sheet and a net cash position of $7.6 
million. The Fund’s operations to date for the first quarter of 2009 have been robust, albeit not at record levels. 

The implications of a sustained period of global recession and general economic uncertainty during times of tight credit 
markets are clear. Demand for oil and natural gas commodities will remain depressed and as a result commodity prices will 
remain low. It is very likely that the 2009 drilling programs for the majority of the Fund’s customers will be substantially 
lower than 2008, due to their realization of lower cash flows from operations and the lack of their availability to secure 
credit or equity financing. In this recessive market competitive forces will place strong downward pressure on Phoenix’s 
pricing to its customers. 

Phoenix is fortunate that many of its management and key employees are very well experienced and therefore have 
witnessed past negative cycles in the oil and natural gas industry. A significant percentage of the Funds cost structure is 
variable in nature and Phoenix believes that it has the resources to weather this upcoming period, the duration of which 
is currently unknown. Phoenix believes that it will emerge from these uncertain times even stronger with enhanced 
technology and increased market share.

In 2009, the Fund will focus on:

	 •		implementing	and	maintaining	cost	reduction	strategies	that	can	also	be	carried	forward	into	more	buoyant	times;	currently	Phoenix	
is already actively involved in this process of reviewing its cost structure and creating new cost efficiencies;

	 •		increasing	its	research	and	development	expenditures	on	key	projects	so	that	Phoenix	is	in	a	position	to	continue	to	offer	leading-edge	
technology to its clients;

	 •		heavily	scrutinizing	and	rationalizing	capital	expenditures	requirements;

	 •		continuing	to	diversify	and	grow	organically,	which	has	been	a	key	objective	for	Phoenix	in	the	past;	and

	 •		working	to	maintain	and	maximize	distributions	levels	to	unitholders.

Outlook
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Management’s Report
t o  t H e  u n I t H o l D e r s

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all information in the Annual Report are the responsibility of 
management. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the accounting 
policies in the notes to financial statements. When necessary, management has made informed judgments and estimates in 
accounting for transactions which were not complete at the balance sheet date. In the opinion of management, the financial 
statements have been prepared within acceptable limits of materiality and are in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”) appropriate in the circumstances. The financial information elsewhere in the Annual Report 
has been reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the consolidated financial statements. 

Management has prepared Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”). The MD&A is based upon the Fund’s 
financial results prepared in accordance with GAAP. The MD&A compares the audited financial results for the twelve-
months ended December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2007. 

Management maintains appropriate systems of internal control. Policies and procedures are designed to give reasonable 
assurance that transactions are properly authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records properly maintained to 
provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements. 

KPMG LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, was engaged by Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 
trustee of the Fund, to audit the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
in Canada and provide an independent professional opinion. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Phoenix Technology Services Inc., which is comprised of three directors 
who are not employees of the Corporation, has discussed the consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, 
with management and external auditors. The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors 
on the recommendations of the Audit Committee. 

John Hooks  Cameron Ritchie, CA 
Chairman of the Board,  Senior Vice-President Finance 
President and Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

February 24, 2009
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Auditors’ Report
t o  t H e  u n I t H o l D e r s

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Phoenix Technology Income Fund as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and 
the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, unitholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Fund as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Canada

February 24, 2009



Consolidated

December 31, 2008 2007

ASSetS
Current assets:

Cash and equivalents $  12,621,811 $   3,008,797

Accounts receivable 40,773,509 29,943,706

Inventory 6,680,448 3,254,756 

Prepaid expenses 1,088,468 574,853

Income tax receivable 322,958 –

61,487,194 36,782,112

Drilling and other equipment (note 2) 63,570,964 39,694,148

Goodwill 8,876,351 8,876,351

$  133,934,509 $  85,352,611

LiAbiLitieS AnD UnithOLDeRS’ eqUity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 32,818,149 $ 16,631,330

Distributions payable (note 5) 2,068,690 1,458,187

Income taxes payable – 65,000

Bank indebtedness (note 4) – 2,827,355

34,886,839 20,981,872

Long-term debt (note 6) 5,000,000 1,775,000

Future income taxes (note 7b) 3,849,398 2,736,000

43,736,237 25,492,872

Unitholders’ equity:

Unitholders’ capital (note 8a) 67,236,158 44,812,574

Contributed surplus (note 9) 2,908,568 3,103,536

Retained earnings 18,901,636 15,741,760

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) 1,151,910 (3,798,131)

20,053,546 11,943,629

90,198,272 59,859,739

$  133,934,509 $  85,352,611

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of Phoenix Technology Income Fund by Phoenix Technology Services Inc. as administrator:

John Hooks Cameron Bailey
Chairman of the Board Director
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Consolidated Statements
o f  c o M p r e H e n s I V e  I n c o M e

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007

Net earnings $  25,530,529 $  18,213,594

Foreign currency adjustments 4,950,041 (2,182,238)

Comprehensive income $  30,480,570 $  16,031,356

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Years ended December 31, 2008 2007

Revenue $  164,344,928 $  115,547,848

Direct cost 108,614,714 73,213,428

Gross profit 55,730,214 42,334,420

Expenses:

Selling, general and administrative 18,344,156 12,681,482

Depreciation and amortization (note 2) 9,160,340 7,165,115

Provision for bad debts 396,250 1,748,169

Stock-based compensation (note 8c) 1,407,485 1,419,466

Foreign exchange loss 332,610 576,203

Interest on long-term debt 62,541 110,547

Other interest (income) (47,074) 2,824

Gain on disposition of drilling equipment (2,390,566) (623,980)

27,265,742 23,079,826

Earnings before income taxes 28,464,472 19,254,594

Provision for income taxes (note 7a)

Current 683,002 270,000

Future 2,250,941 771,000

2,933,943 1,041,000

Net earnings $  25,530,529 $  18,213,594

Earnings per unit - basic (note 8b) $  1.08 $  0.81

Earnings per unit - diluted (note 8b) $  1.07 $  0.81

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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o f  u n I t H o l D e r s ’  e q u I t Y

year ended December 31, 2008 Number Amount ($)
Contributed  

Surplus

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
Income/(Loss)

Retained  
Earnings Total

Balance, December 31, 2007 22,434,044 $ 44,812,574 $ 3,103,536 $ (3,798,131) $ 15,741,760 $ 59,859,739

Issuance of unit capital (note 8a) 1,903,480 20,821,131 – – – 20,821,131

Stock-based compensation (note 8c & 9)  – – 1,407,485 – – 1,407,485

Fair value of options exercised (note 8c & 9)  – 1,602,453 (1,602,453) – – –

Net earnings – – – – 25,530,529 25,530,529

Foreign currency adjustment – – – 4,950,041 – 4,950,041

Distributions to unitholders (note 5) – – – – (22,370,653) (22,370,653)

Balance, December 31, 2008 24,337,524 $ 67,236,158 $ 2,908,568 $ 1,151,910 $ 18,901,636 $ 90,198,272

year ended December 31, 2007 Number Amount ($)
Contributed  

Surplus

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
Income/(Loss)

Retained  
Earnings Total

Balance, December 31, 2006 22,274,773 $ 43,509,547 $ 2,042,311 $ (1,615,893) $ 14,972,076 $ 58,908,041

Issuance of unit capital (note 8a) 159,271 1,303,027 – – – 1,303,027

Stock-based compensation (note 8c & 9) – – 1,419,466 – – 1,419,466

Fair value of options exercised (note 8c & 9) – – (358,241) – – (358,241)

Net earnings – – – – 18,213,594 18,213,594

Foreign currency adjustment – – – (2,182,238) – (2,182,238)

Distributions to unitholders (note 5) – – – – (17,443,910) (17,443,910)

Balance, December 31, 2007 22,434,044 $ 44,812,574 $ 3,103,536 $ (3,798,131) $ 15,741,760 $ 59,859,739

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Unit Capital

Unit Capital
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Years ended December 31, 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net earnings $  25,530,529 $  18,213,594

Add (deduct) items not affecting cash:

Depreciation and amortization 9,160,340 7,165,115

Future income taxes 2,250,941 771,000

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss (25,825) 727,938

Gain on disposition of drilling equipment (2,390,566) (623,980)

Stock-based compensation (note 8c) 1,407,485 1,419,466

Provision for bad debts 396,250 1,748,169

Change in non-cash working capital (note 10) (3,407,298) (3,318,132)

32,921,856 26,103,170

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds on disposition of drilling equipment 6,079,081 2,237,982

Acquisition of drilling and other equipment (33,908,041) (14,610,124)

Change in non-cash working capital (note 10) 5,060,620 1,176,007

(22,768,340) (11,196,135)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Issuance of units from unit option plan 4,028,487 944,789

Issuance of units from equity financing 16,792,644 –

Distributions to unitholders (note 5) (21,759,278) (17,433,573)

Repayment of long-term debt (1,775,000) –

Repayment of bank overdraft facility (2,827,355) –

Proceeds from long-term debt 5,000,000 –

Proceeds from bank overdraft facility (note 4) – 2,827,355

(540,502) (13,661,429)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,613,014 1,245,606

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 3,008,797 1,763,191

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  12,621,811 $  3,008,797

Supplemental information:

Income taxes paid $  1,497,587 $  1,297,976

Interest paid $  79,870 $  103,210

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

– 53 –



{pure play}

– 54 –

PHX

Phoenix Technology Income Fund (the “Fund”) is an unincorporated open-ended investment trust governed by the laws 
of the province of Alberta pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated May 19, 2004 between Phoenix Technology Services Inc. 
(“PTSI”) and Computershare Trust Company of Canada. PTSI is the administrator of the Fund. Its powers are set out in an 
administration agreement between itself and the Trustee. The Trustee, on recommendation of PTSI, will declare payable to 
the unitholders on the distribution record date, all or any part of distributable income out of the Fund’s distributable cash. 
Distributable cash is defined as income received or reasonably entitled to be received, less all expenses and liabilities the Fund 
incurred or anticipated to be incurred.

The Fund, through its subsidiaries and partnership, provides horizontal and directional drilling services to the oil and natural 
gas industry in Canada and the United States. The Fund also rents various drilling equipment to oil and natural gas companies 
in Canada and manufactures technology for lease and internal use.

1. sIGnIfIcAnt AccountInG polIcIes:
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Fund and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and have been 
prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

(a) Revenue recognition
The Fund recognizes revenue as services are provided. The Fund’s services are sold based upon bid acceptance or 
contracts with customers that include fixed or determinable prices based upon daily, hourly or job rates. Revenue is 
recognized when services or equipment rentals are provided and when collectibility is assured.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand with commercial banks and investments in bankers’ acceptances 
issued by commercial banks and large corporations with an original maturity of three months or less.

(c) Inventory
Inventory, which consists of spare parts and batteries, is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The 
amount of inventory consumed for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $14,646,761 (2007 - $7,121,584).

Notes to
c o n s o l I D A t e D  f I n A n c I A l  s t A t e M e n t s

Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
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(d) Drilling, other equipment and depreciation 
Drilling and other equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Directional drilling equipment 4 to 8 years straight-line, 0 to 20 percent residual value

Rental equipment 5 to 8 years straight-line, 0 to 20 percent residual value

Office and computer equipment 3 to 5 years straight-line

Machinery and equipment 5 years straight-line

Vehicles 5 years straight-line

(e) Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Certain product development costs are capitalized once market and 
technical feasibility has been established. Development costs capitalized are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives once commercial production or use of the product occurs. Equipment acquired to conduct 
research and development activities are capitalized and amortized over their estimated useful lives.

(f) Goodwill
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the 
amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on the fair values. 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at the end of each year, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicated that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps. 
In the first step, the carrying amount of the reporting segment is compared to its fair value. When the fair value of the 
reporting segment exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting segment is considered not to be impaired 
and the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying amount 
of the reporting segment’s goodwill exceeds its fair value, in which case the implied fair value of the reporting 
segment’s goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. 

(g) Long-lived assets 
Management assesses the carrying value of long-lived assets on a periodic basis for indications of impairment. 
Indications of impairment include an ongoing lack of profitability and significant changes in technology. When an 
indication of impairment is present, a test for impairment is carried out by comparing the carrying value of the asset 
to its net recoverable amount. If the carrying amount is greater than the net recoverable amount, the asset would be 
written down to its estimated fair value.

(h) Foreign currency translation
The Fund’s United States subsidiary is accounted for as a self-sustaining operation. Accordingly, the subsidiary’s 
accounts in foreign currencies and operations have been translated into Canadian dollars using the current rate 
method. Assets and liabilities denominated in US dollars are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates in 
effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the month 
the transaction occurred. Gains or losses arising on translation are deferred and reported as a foreign currency 
adjustment and are recognized as a separate component of comprehensive income.
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Transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operating entities are translated 
by applying exchange rates in effect at the transaction date. At the end of the year, monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Any 
resulting foreign exchange translation gains and losses are charged to earnings in the year.

(i) Per unit amounts
Basic per unit amounts are calculated using the weighted-average number of fund units outstanding during the 
period. Diluted per unit amounts are calculated using the treasury stock method where deemed proceeds of the 
exercise of unit options are considered to be used to re-acquire fund units at an average unit price. The weighted-
average number of units outstanding is then adjusted by the net change.

(j) Income taxes
The Fund is a mutual fund trust for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and is only subject to income taxes 
on taxable income not distributed to the unitholders. The Fund’s subsidiaries follow the tax liability method of 
accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated 
tax consequences attributable to differences between the amounts reported in the financial statements of the Fund 
and its subsidiaries and their respective tax bases, using enacted income tax rates. The effect of a change in income 
tax rates on future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income in the period that the change occurs.

(k) Stock-based compensation plans   
The Fund has a unit option plan which is described in note 8(c). The fair value of unit options that have been 
expensed is credited to contributed surplus.

(l) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenue and expenses for the year. The most significant estimates include the valuation of accounts receivable and 
goodwill. Actual results could differ from such estimates by a material amount.

(m) Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s financial statement presentation. 

(n) Change in accounting policies
Effective at the commencement of its 2008 fiscal year, the Fund has adopted Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants approved disclosure and presentation requirements for financial instruments that revise and enhance 
the disclosure requirements of Section 3861 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation (CICA 3861). These 
requirements included Sections 3862 Financial Instruments: Disclosure (CICA 3862), and Section 3863 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation (CICA 3863), which replaced CICA 3861, and Section 1535 Capital Disclosures (CICA 
1535), which establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and how it is managed. CICA 
1535 requires disclosure of an entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, quantitative data 
about what the entity regards as capital and whether the entity has complied with any capital requirements and, if 
it has not complied, the consequences of such non-compliance. The Fund has also adopted accounting requirements 
for Section 3031 Inventories (CICA 3031) and for Section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets (CICA 3064). 
Adjustments to the financial statements have been made in accordance with the transitional provisions for these new 
standards and did not have a material impact for the year ended December 31, 2008. 
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2. DrIllInG AnD otHer equIpMent:
2008 Cost Accumulated Depreciation net book Value

Directional drilling equipment $     86,509,849 $     27,699,114 $     58,810,735
Office and computer equipment 3,279,009 1,898,040 1,380,969
Rental equipment 3,157,762 1,878,520 1,279,242
Machinery and equipment 3,117,364 1,168,977 1,948,387
Vehicles 378,024 226,393 151,631

$     96,442,008 $     32,871,044 $     63,570,964

2007 Cost Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value

Directional drilling equipment $     56,429,569 $     20,767,427 $     35,662,142
Rental equipment 3,335,225 1,792,641 1,542,584
Office and computer equipment 2,560,271 1,285,313 1,274,958
Machinery and equipment 1,860,796 746,599 1,114,197
Vehicles 330,811 230,544 100,267

$     64,516,672 $     24,822,524 $     39,694,148

During the year, the Fund recognized depreciation on drilling and other equipment in the amount of $9,160,340
(2007 - $7,165,115).

3. reseArcH AnD DeVelopMent costs:
Research costs charged to earnings during the year were $1,760,760 (2007 - $1,071,692) and were net of $nil (2007 - $152,570) 
in investment tax credits received. There were no development costs capitalized in the year.

4. BAnK oVerDrAft fAcIlItY:
The Fund has access to a bank overdraft facility of up to $5.0 million. The bank overdraft facility would bear interest at the 
Fund’s option at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.375 percent or at the bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a stamping fee of 
1.25 percent and is secured by security discussed in Note 6. As at December 31, 2008 the Fund had $nil (2007 - $2,827,355) 
drawn on this facility.

5. DIstrIButIon pAYABle:
During the year, the Fund paid monthly distributions totaling $21,759,278 (2007 - $17,433,573). The Fund declared a 
distribution of $0.085 per unit, or $2,068,690, payable on January 15, 2009. In aggregate, distributions of $22,370,653 
(2007 - $17,443,910) were declared for the year.
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6. lonG-terM DeBt:
2008 2007

Extendible revolving facility $     5,000,000 $     1,775,000

On December 15, 2008, the Fund renewed its $20 million, 364-day extendible revolving facility with its bank,  which bears 
interest, payable monthly, at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.375 percent or at the bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a stamping 
fee of 1.25 percent. The facility is renewable annually based on the bank’s approval. If the facility is not renewed it would 
convert to a four year term facility commencing March 31, 2010. If this occurs, the principal payments due would be as 
follows:

2010 $  800,000
2011 800,000
2012 800,000
2013 2,600,000

$  5,000,000

The bank overdraft credit facility (note 4) and the extendible facility are secured by a general security over all assets of the 
Fund and an assignment of related insurance coverage.

7. IncoMe tAXes:
(a)  The provision for income taxes differs from the amounts that would be obtained by applying the expected combined 

federal and provincial statutory income tax rate of 29.5 percent (2007 - 32.12 percent) as follows:

2008 2007

Expected income tax expense $  8,397,019 $  6,184,576
Add (deduct):
Amounts included in Fund income (cash distributions) (5,903,245) (5,611,697)
Benefit on rate reduction (307,735) (644,589)
Non-taxable portion of gains on disposal of assets (99,816) (101,268)
Non-deductible stock-based compensation and other expenses 705,773 758,014
Other 141,947 455,964

$  2,933,943 $  1,041,000
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(b)  Future income taxes arise from temporary differences, which are differences between the tax basis of an asset or 
liability and its carrying amount in the balance sheet. The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to 
significant portions of the future income tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are presented below:

2008 2007

Future income tax liabilities:
Partnership income $  5,510,518 $  5,094,139
Drilling and other equipment 6,099,088 4,017,617
Investment tax credits 466,768 494,731

12,076,374 9,606,487
Future income tax assets:
Income tax losses (2,585,861) (3,376,866)
Unit issue costs (16,368) (75,861)
Other (including foreign and other tax credits) (5,624,747) (3,417,760)

(8,226,796) (6,870,487)
Net future income tax liability $  3,849,398 $  2,736,000

At December 31, 2008 the Fund has accumulated losses for income tax purposes of $nil (2007 - $3.5 million) 
available as a deduction against future taxable income. The Fund has an unrecognized future tax asset in the amount 
of $415,838 (2007 - $1.5 million). 

8. unItHolDers’ cApItAl:

(a) Authorized and issued units
The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of trust units.

Number Amount

Balance as at December 31, 2006 22,274,773 $  43,509,547
Issued units pursuant to unit option plan 159,271 1,303,027
Balance as at December 31, 2007 22,434,044 $  44,812,574

Issued units pursuant to unit option plan 653,480 5,630,940
Issued units pursuant to equity financing 1,250,000 16,792,644
Balance as at December 31, 2008 24,337,524 $  67,236,158
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(b) Basic and diluted earnings per unit
 

2008 income Units Per Unit

(numerator) (denominator) Amount
Basic earnings per unit: $  25,530,529 23,581,281 $  1.08

Diluted earnings per unit:
Dilutive effect of unit option conversions - 368,074
Income available to Fund unitholders $  25,530,529 23,949,355 $  1.07

2007 Income Units Per Unit
(numerator) (denominator) Amount

Basic earnings per unit: $  18,213,594 22,356,992 $  0.81

Diluted earnings per unit:
Dilutive effect of unit option conversions - 46,894
Income available to Fund unitholders $  18,213,594 22,403,886 $  0.81

The calculation of diluted earnings per unit excluded anti-dilutive options. These are options that would not be 
exercised because their exercise price is higher than the average market value of the units for the year. Including those 
options would cause the diluted earnings per unit to be overstated. The number of excluded options was 375,500 in 
2008 (2007 - 10,000). 

(c) Unit options
On May 10, 2007 a new option plan for the Fund was approved by its unitholders. Under the new option plan the 
exercise price of the Fund’s unit under option is either the initial exercise price of the option, or a reduced price per 
unit calculated monthly by deducting from the exercise price the aggregate of all distributions, on a per unit basis 
made by the Fund after the date upon which options were granted. The initial exercise price is the prior five-day 
weighted-average trading price calculated on the day of grant. Unit options granted under the plan continue to have 
a five-year term and vest equally over three periods commencing six months after the date of grant, and the first and 
second year thereafter. 

During 2008, the Fund granted 375,500 unit options with exercise prices between $10.06 to $15.55, with expiration 
dates between March 5 to August 17, 2013. In addition, a total of 653,479 options were exercised at an exercise 
price ranging from $2.05 to $8.88, and 40,667 options were cancelled. As at December 31, 2008, the Fund had a 
total of 1,400,239 options that remain outstanding which expire over a period of 2 to 5 years. 

The previously calculated fair value of options that were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2008 in the 
amount of $1,602,453 (2007 - $358,241) has been transferred from contributed surplus to unitholders’ capital.
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A summary of the status of the plan as at December 31, 2008 is presented below:

2008 2007

Options
Weighted-Average 

exercise Price
Options

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year 1,718,885      $  7.40 1,849,990      $  7.24
Granted 375,500 10.72 52,500 8.83 
Exercised (653,479) 5.72 (159,271) 5.93
Cancelled (40,667) 9.64 (24,334) 7.03
Outstanding, end of year 1,400,239      $  7.38 1,718,885      $  7.40
Options exercisable, end of year 1,056,392      $  6.83 1,042,701      $  7.25

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

 
Original

Exercise Price

 
 

Number

Weighted-Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price

 
 

Number

 
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price

     $  4.25 51,503 0.9 yrs      $  2.79 51,503      $  2.79
7.03 431,002 2.5 yrs 5.89 357,500 5.93
8.71 523,900 1.9 yrs 7.25 523,900 7.25
8.72 5,000 3.6 yrs 8.72 - -
8.88 13,334 3.9 yrs 8.88 - -
9.02 10,000 3.3 yrs 7.56 6,666 7.56

10.06 10,000 4.2 yrs 9.25 3,333 9.25
10.24 330,500 4.2 yrs 9.77 110,157 9.77
15.42 15,000 4.6 yrs 15.42 - -
15.55 10,000 4.4 yrs 15.55 3,333 15.55

1,400,239 2.6 yrs      $  7.38 1,056,392      $  6.83

On January 1, 2007 the Fund changed its method of valuation for all unit options to a lattice-binomial option-
pricing model (“lattice-binomial model”) from the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Fund’s determination of 
fair value of options on the date of grant using an option pricing model is affected by the Fund’s unit price as well 
as assumptions regarding a number of variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the Fund’s expected 
unit price volatility over the term of the options of 50 percent, a risk free interest rate of 3.5 percent, an average 
life of 3.0 years, and a projected employee unit option exercise behavior of 22 percent. The amounts computed 
according to the lattice-binomial model method may not be indicative of the actual values realized upon the exercise 
of these options by the holders. During 2008, the Fund recognized a total compensation expense of $1,407,485 
(2007 - $1,419,466) for unit options granted between 2003 and 2008. 
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(d) Deferred unit plan
In 2007, the Fund implemented a deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan for directors outside of the Fund. DSU’s are 
granted annually and represent rights to unit value based on the number of deferred units issued. Under the terms of 
the plan, awarded DSU’s will vest immediately and will be settled with cash in the amount equal to the closing price 
of the Fund’s units on the date the director ceases to be a director of the Fund. 

The Fund recorded $278,303 in compensation expense and has a corresponding liability included in accounts 
payable relating to DSU’s. There were 54,133 DSU’s outstanding at the end of 2008.

(e) Equity financing
On May 27, 2008, the Fund issued 1,250,000 units pursuant to a short-form prospectus for net proceeds of 
$16,792,644, including share issue costs of $1,082,356.

(f) Normal course issuer bid
On October 16, 2008, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) approved the Fund’s Normal Course Issuer Bid to 
purchase up to 1,688,053 of its trust units on the open market through the facilities of the TSX. No units have 
been acquired under the Bid. 

9. contrIButeD surplus:
2008 2007

Balance outstanding, beginning of year   $  3,103,536   $  2,042,311
Stock-based compensation expense (note 8c) 1,407,485 1,419,466
Fair value of options exercised (note 8c) (1,602,453) (358,241)
Balance outstanding, end of year   $  2,908,568   $  3,103,536

10. stAteMent of cAsH floWs:
The changes in non-cash operating working capital items is comprised of the following:

2008 2007
Decrease (increase) in current assets:
Accounts receivable*   $  (11,226,053)   $  (1,336,453)
Inventory (3,425,692) (2,065,502)
Prepaid expenses (513,615) 500,844
   
Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 15,109,576 1,371,801
Income taxes payable (387,958) (1,130,000)
Foreign exchange 2,097,064 (1,834,829)

1,653,322 (4,494,139)
Add (deduct): change in working capital related to investing activities (5,060,620) 1,176,007
Change in non-cash working capital   $  (3,407,298)   $  (3,318,132)
* excludes provision for bad debts
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11. cApItAl MAnAGeMent:
The Fund’s primary objective of capital management is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor 
and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Phoenix seeks to maintain a balance between 
higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security created by a strong 
equity position. 

The Fund’s management considers the capital structure to consist of net debt and unitholders’ equity. Phoenix considers net 
debt to be total long-term and short-term bank debt less cash and cash equivalents. This calculation may vary from one 
entity to another. As at December 31, 2008, the Fund had $5,000,000 in long-term debt. The debt to equity ratio was 0.06 
as at December 31, 2008. 

The Fund reviews its distribution levels and estimates with respect to capital expenditure on a quarterly basis and sets its rates 
taking into consideration its own financial performance, forecasted activity levels and industry outlook.

The Fund is subject to externally imposed capital requirements relating to debt covenants on debt facilities held. These capital 
requirements consist of the ratios debt to equity, current ratio and debt service coverage. 

There were no other changes to the Fund’s approach to capital management during the year ending December 31, 2008.

12. seGMenteD InforMAtIon:
The Fund provides horizontal and directional oil and natural gas well drilling services. The Fund’s operating segment has 
been aligned geographically as follows:

2008 Canada United States Total

Revenue      $  76,044,993      $  88,299,935      $  164,344,928
Drilling and other equipment 46,718,472 16,852,492 63,570,964
Goodwill     8,876,351 -    8,876,351

2007 Canada United States Total

Revenue       $  60,091,783       $  55,456,065        $  115,547,848
Drilling and other equipment 30,135,152 9,558,996 39,694,148
Goodwill 8,876,351 - 8,876,351
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13. coMMItMents:
The Fund is committed to the following minimum payments under operating leases for equipment and premises:

2009      $  2,158,027
2010 1,755,942
2011 1,355,616
2012 1,053,049
2013 861,598

During the year, the Fund paid $1,695,745 (2007 - $1,614,015) for various operating leases.

14. relAteD pArtY trAnsActIons:
During the year the Fund paid $27,500 (2007 - $15,500) in director fees to a company owned by a director. During 2007, 
the Fund was charged $218,156 for the provision of various legal services from a director’s firm of which at the time he was 
a partner. These transactions were completed in the normal course of operations on normal market terms and are measured 
at the exchange amounts. 

15. fInAncIAl InstruMents:

(a) Credit risk
The Fund is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and 
development industry. The Fund’s credit risk associated with these customers can be directly impacted by a decline 
in economic conditions, which would impair the customer’s ability to satisfy their obligations to the Fund. During 
the year ended December 31, 2008, one customer comprised 12 percent of total revenue or $18.9 million. The Fund 
considers accounts receivable outstanding under 120 days to be current. All account receivable balances outstanding 
over 120 days represent two percent or $768,000 of total receivables on the balance sheet at December 31, 2008. 
Management considers this to be the maximum credit risk exposure of which eight percent or $60,000 represents 
receivables from US customers. Management considers all amounts collectible at December 31, 2008.

The Fund has a credit management program to assist in managing this risk which consists of conducting financial 
and other assessments to establish and monitor a customer’s creditworthiness. The Fund monitors and manages its 
credit risk on an ongoing basis.

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Fund has 
financial liabilities, thus, is exposed to liquidity risk. The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that 
it always has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its obligations when due. Management typically forecasts 
cash flows for a period of 12 months to identify financing requirements. These requirements are then addressed 
through a combination of demand credit facilities and access to capital markets. The Fund believes that future cash 
flows generated by the operations and access to additional liquidity through capital and banking markets will be 
adequate to meet its financial obligations.
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(c) Fair values of financial instruments
The Fund has designated its cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, income taxes payable 
and distributions payable as held-for-trading, which are measured at fair value. Accounts receivable are designated 
as loans and receivables, measured at amortized cost. The Fund’s carrying values of these items approximate their 
fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity of the instruments. Long-term debt has been designated 
as an other financial liability, and it is measured at amortized cost. The fair value of long-term debt included in the 
consolidated balance sheet approximates fair values as the indebtedness is subject to floating rates of interest.

(d) Interest rate risk 
The Fund has variable interest long-term debt which exposes it to fluctuations in cash interest payment amounts. 
The Fund manages its exposure to interest rate risk through short-term renewable borrowings. As at December 31, 
2008 the Fund had $5,000,000 in long-term debt.

(e) Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Due to operations of the Fund’s subsidiary in the US, the Fund has an exposure to foreign currency 
exchange rates. Both the carrying values of US dollar denominated monetary assets and liabilities and earnings 
are subject to foreign exchange risk. Currently, there is no management program in place to mitigate this foreign 
exchange risk.

The following chart represents the Fund’s exposure to foreign currency risk:

USD USD
As at December 31, 2008 2007

Cash and cash equivalents      $  5,512,448      $  3,039,307
Accounts receivables 14,541,638 11,158,839
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (9,562,729) (5,893,198)
Income tax payable (receivable) (264,921) 66,070
Balance sheet exposure      $  10,226,436      $  8,371,018

The following exchange rates applied during the year ended December 31:

Average Rate Year End Close Rate

2008 2007 2008 2007
USD 1.0702 1.0748 1.2180 0.9881 

A 10 percent weakening of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar at December 31, 2008 would have increased 
the Fund’s equity and net income by $1.1 million and $350,000 respectively. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables remain constant at December 31, 2008.
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l I s t I n G

Trust Units of Phoenix Technology Income Fund are listed 
on the TSX under the trading symbol “PhX.Un”.
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